# UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Doping Profile Engineering for Advanced Transistors

# Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3pg4m052

# Author

Lu, Peng

# Publication Date 2020

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

## **Doping Profile Engineering for Advanced Transistors**

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Doctor of Philosophy

in Electrical and Computer Engineering

by

Peng Lu

2020

© Copyright by Peng Lu 2020

## ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

#### **Doping Profile Engineering for Advanced Transistors**

by

Peng Lu

Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical and Computer Engineering University of California, Los Angeles, 2020

Professor Jason C. S. Woo, Chair

Over the last decades, conventional scaling (Moore's law) has provided continuous improvement in semiconductor device/circuit technology. FinFETs, featuring superior electrostatic control compared to planer FETs, have been the mainstream technology for the front-end-of-line (FEoL) application since the 22-nm node. Process-induced performance variation, which is already a key limit in 7/10-nm node FinFETs, is becoming even more severe in beyond 5-nm node. Furthermore, FinFETs' analog/RF performances are inferior to those in bulk and SOI transistors, preventing their applications in the system on chip (SoC) designs. In this work, 3D source/drain extension (SDE) doping profile control technique, developed for *Ion/IoFF* enhancement in 7/10-nm node FinFET, is proposed as an effective method for variability

suppression and digital/analog performance enhancement in the 3-nm node. The methodology of 3D doping profile optimization and governing physics are systematically analyzed.

In addition to transistor scaling, wafer-level packaging (WLP) has also been widely accepted as a pathway to further increase the device density. Active device integration in the back-end-of-line (BEoL) has been proposed to enhance the interconnect bandwidth, design flexibility, and reduce power consumption. Multi-layered molybdenum disulfide (MoS<sub>2</sub>), featuring a finite bandgap, high mobility, and possible CMOS BEoL compatible (<400 °C) synthesis process, is a promising candidate for such an application. One of the major roadblocks in MoS<sub>2</sub> FET's fabrication is the lack of the controllable doping process for S/D formation. This work demonstrates a carrier control technique in MoS<sub>2</sub> by introducing substitutional Nb. The impact of high concentration Nb is quantified to precisely modulate the carrier density. Electrical characterizations show that a high carrier density (>2×10<sup>20</sup> cm<sup>-3</sup>) can be achieved, favorable for S/D formation with low access resistance. The relations between high concentration Nb and mobility, contact resistivity, and bandgap are also analyzed to guide MoS<sub>2</sub> transistor design.

The dissertation of Peng Lu is approved.

Robert N. Candler

Mark S. Goorsky

Subramanian Srikantes Iyer

Jason C. S. Woo, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles 2020

To my parents.

# **Table of Contents**

1.	Chapter 1 Introduction1
	1.1 Overview and motivations
	1.1.1 Variability suppression and performance enhancement through 3D
	SDE doping profile engineering in 3-nm node FinFETs
	1.1.2 Carrier control technique in multi-layered MoS <sub>2</sub>
	1.2 Organization
2.	Chapter 2 3-nm node FinFET's variability quantification and suppression
	2.1 Introduction
	2.2 Simulation setup and calibration
	2.2.1 3D FinFET structure setup
	2.2.2 Physical models setup and calibration
	2.3 Device performance of realistic FinFETs
	2.3.1 Sub-threshold performance
	2.3.2 On-state performance
	2.4 Quantification of process-induced variabilities in 3-nm node FinFET 29
	2.4.1 Fin module induced variability
	2.4.2 Gate stack module induced variability
	2.4.3 SDE module induced variability
	2.4.4 Comparison between n- and p-FinFET

	2.5 Variability suppression by 3D SDE doping profile engineering
	2.5.1 Physical interpretation and quantification
	2.5.2 Limitations of the V-shape SDE doping profile
	2.6 Summary
3.	Chapter 3 3-nm node FinFET's Performance Enhancement through 3D SDE Doping
	Profile Engineering
	3.1 Introduction
	3.2 Digital performance optimization
	3.2.1 Optimization methodology
	3.2.2 Optimization result
	3.3 Analog performance analysis and optimization
	3.3.1 Benchmark of 3-nm node FinFET's analog performance
	3.3.2 Analog performance optimization
	3.4 Summary 52
4.	Chapter 4 Carrier Density Modulation in Multi-layered MoS <sub>2</sub>
	4.1 Introduction
	4.2 Multi-layered Mo <sub>1-x</sub> Nb <sub>x</sub> S <sub>2</sub> synthesis and material characterization
	4.3 Device fabrication and electrical characterization
	4.3.1 TLM results and analysis
	4.3.2 MOSFET results and analysis

	4.4 Role of high concentration Nb in Mo <sub>1-x</sub> Nb <sub>x</sub> S <sub>2</sub>	66
	4.5 Summary	67
5.	Chapter 5 Conclusions	69
	5.1 Summary	69
	5.1.1 3D SDE doping profile engineering in 3-nm node FinFETs	69
	5.1.2 Carrier density modulation in multi-layered MoS <sub>2</sub>	70
	5.2 Suggestions for Future Research	71
6.	Bibliography	74

# List of Figures

Fig. 1.1 Performance variability in Intel's 14 and 10-nm node FinFETs [2]-[3]. Although advanced
process control techniques have been developed, variability degrades as geometry parameters are
scaled down
Fig. 2.1 Schematic of simulated 3-nm node FinFETs (a) the 3D structure, (b) the fin geometry and
the gate stack parameters, (c) (d) schematic of the vertically uniform and non-uniform SDE doping
profile, respectively (not to scale)
Fig. 2.2 Geometries and variation ranges extracted from advanced module process
characterizations. (a) Fin geometry, (b) SDE junction profile [17], and (c) the SIMS of the doping
diffusion gradient from the heavily doped S/D to the intrinsic channel
Fig. 2.3 Simulation setup for the 3-nm node FinFET's variability analysis
Fig. 2.4 The trend of simulated gate capacitance vs. Si thickness agrees with the experimental data
in nano-sheet devices [46]. The quantum capacitance increases
Fig. 2.5 Drift-diffusion model with modified $v_{sat}$ can be used to emulate the quasi-ballistic transport
for L <sub>G</sub> <20nm [51]
Fig. 2.6 Calibrated electron mobility in the thin film agrees with experimental data [54]16
Fig. 2.7 (a) Hole mobility models in $s-Si_{0.73}Ge_{0.27}$ are calibrated to SOI FinFET I-V characteristics
(<2% error) [55], and (b) the mobility enhancement factor is utilized for stress induced variability
[56]16
Fig 2.8 Fin structure setup for Intel's 14-nm node n-FinFET [2]17

Fig. 2.9 Simulation results match the experimental data of (a) Intel's 10/14-nm node bulk n-
FinFET [2]-[3], (b) Intel's 14-nm node bulk p-FinFET [2], and Globalfoundries' SOI p-FinFET
[55]
Fig. 2.10 Current density distribution's evolution in an n-FinFET with an idealized fin ( $\theta$ =0°), a
vertically uniform SDE junction profile, and $V_{DS}=0.7$ V
Fig. 2.11 Current density distribution's evolution in the nominal 3-nm node n-FinFET without 3D
SDE doping profile engineering and $V_{DS}$ =0.7V. The geometry of the fin is predicted based on
advanced module process results
Fig. 2.12 The electric field and space charge profile in a cut-plane perpendicular to the $H_{Fin}$
direction (25 nm from the fin top). The n-FinFET has an idealized fin
Fig. 2.13 (a) The $E_Y$ and (b) the barrier profile along the cutline across the virtual cathode as a
function of the $T_{Si}$ , (c) the virtual cathode barrier height, off-state current density normalized to
effective conduction width, and (d) the coupling between the virtual cathode barrier height and the
gate bias as a function of the $T_{Si}$
Fig. 2.14 Electric field and the barrier profile close to the sub-fin. (a) The electric field distribution
in the fin cross-section near the virtual cathode, (b) and (c) the comparison between the $E_Y$ and the
barrier profile at the middle of the $H_{fin}$ (H=25 nm) and near the fin bottom (H=48.5 nm),
respectively, and (d) the barrier height along the $H_{fin}$ direction in the middle of the $T_{Si}$
Fig. 2.15 The sub-threshold performance in an n-FinFET with a tapered Fin. (a) The electric field
profile in the cross section at the virtual cathode, (b) a comparison of the barrier profiles along the
$H_{fin}$ direction between FinFETs with idealized and realistic fins, and (c) the off-state current
distribution in the fin

Fig. 2.16 The on-state current distribution in an n-FinFET with an idealized fin
Fig. 2.17 The on-state performance as a function of the $T_{Si}$ in n-FinFETs with idealized fins. (a)
The transfer characteristics, and (b) the $I_{ON}$ normalized to the effective conduction width, and the
linearly extracted V <sub>TH</sub> shift
Fig. 2.18. The on-state current distribution in an n-FinFET with a realistic tapered fin ( $\theta$ =1.5°).26
Fig. 2.19 Schematics of the parasitic resistance's component in 3-nm node n-FinFET 27
Fig. 2.20 (a) The doping and on-state carrier profile along the $L_G$ direction in the SDE region of
an n-FinFET without 3D SDE doping profile engineering, and (b) the corresponding resistivity.
The carrier profile is extracted at 1 nm from the channel/gate stack interface, 25 nm from the fin
top
Fig. 2.21 The SDE doping profiles in FinFETs with various LRs and the corresponding carrier
profiles near the SDE/channel junction
Fig. 2.22 (a) $\Delta I_{OFF}$ and (b) $\Delta I_{ON}$ induced by various sources in n- and p-FinFET without 3D SDE
doping profile engineering
Fig. 2.23 Fin module induced variability in n-FinFETs without 3D SDE doping profile engineering.
(a) The $I_{OFF}$ - $I_{ON}$ distribution, (b) and (c) $I_{OFF}$ and $I_{ON}$ as a function of $T_{leakage}$ and $T_{average}$ ,
respectively
Fig. 2.24 (a) $C_{dielectric}$ and $C_G$ vs. gate dielectric <i>EOT</i> , and (b) gate stack induced performance
variation in 3-nm node n-FinFET
Fig. 2.25 $\pm 1$ nm $\Delta$ LR induced performance variation in 3-nm node n-FinFETs without 3D SDE
doping profile engineering
Fig. 2.26 Tunneling leakage current in the nominal s-Si <sub>0.75</sub> Ge <sub>0.25</sub> p-FinFET

Fig. 2.27 Schematics of 3D SDE doping profile engineering. (a) The formation process (not to
scale), and (b) the resulting doping profile extracted from TEM
Fig. 2.28 Impact of V-shape SDE on device performance. (a) The sub-threshold energy barrier
profile, and (b) the sub-threshold and on-state current density distribution in the fin cross-section.
Fig. 2.29 Fin module induced $I_{ON}$ - $I_{OFF}$ variation in 3-nm FinFETs with various SDE doping
profiles
Fig. 2.30 SDE module induced $I_{ON}$ - $I_{OFF}$ variation in 3-nm FinFETs with various SDE doping
profiles
Fig. 2.31 Device performances vs. LR in 3-nm node n-/p-FinFETs with vertically uniform and V-
shape SDE doping profiles. All transistors have fixed $I_{OFF}$ =10 nA/µm
Fig. 3.1 $f_T$ trends by process node [16]. $f_T$ in FinFETs are lower than that in bulk and SOI transistors.
Fig. 3.2 On-state current in an n-FinFET with the nominal fin shape, a V-shape SDE doping profile,
and 2 nm LR. (a) The current distribution and the illustration of five sections, and (b) on-state
current contribution from each section
Fig. 3.3 (a) $I_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$ characteristics and (b) SS in each section in an n-FinFET with the nominal fin
shape, a V-shape SDE doping profile, and 2 nm LR
Fig. 3.4 The optimized 3D SDE doping profile in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFET 45
Fig 3.5. Current density distribution in 3-nm node n-FinFETs with different SDE doping profiles.

Fig. 3.6 The $R_{SDE}$ -SS trade-off in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFETs with the V-shape and the optimized
SDE profiles
Fig. 3.7 Fin module induced variability in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFETs with various SDE doping
profiles
Fig. 3.8 SDE module induced variability in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFETs with various SDE doping
profiles
Fig. 3.9 Comparison of (a) transconductance and (b) gain-power efficiency between 3nm-node and
14-nm node
Fig. 3.10 Schematics of 3-nm node FinFET's capacitor components in FEoL and MoL (not to
scale). (a) Cross-section along the $L_G$ direction in the middle of the fin, and (b) perpendicular to
the <i>H</i> <sub>fin</sub> direction
Fig. 3.11 $g_{mext}$ enhancement through 3D SDE doping profile engineering. (a) $g_{mext}$ - $I_{DS}$ curve vs.
LR, and (b) the resulting peak $g_{mext}$ and $R_{out}$ trade-off
Fig. 4.1 Schematics of 2D TMD active device integration in the BEoL process
Fig.4.2 Schematics of the two-step CVD technique for wafer scale multi-layered $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$
synthesis
Fig. 4.3 TEM image of the multi-layered $Mo_{0.92}Nb_{0.08}S_2$ . All samples are observed to have 10~12
layers
Fig. 4.4 SIMS measurement for Nb mole fraction extraction. Data of Mo <sub>0.92</sub> Nb <sub>0.08</sub> S <sub>2</sub> is shown as
an example
Fig. 4.5 STM result of Mo <sub>0.92</sub> Nb <sub>0.08</sub> S <sub>2</sub> . A 0.68 eV bandgap is observed

Fig. 4.6 Selective area synthesis of $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$ by pattering $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xO_y$ before sulfidation 59
Fig. 4.7 Layout of the TLM structure
Fig. 4.8 Layout and channel cross-section schematics (not to scale) of Mo <sub>1-x</sub> Nb <sub>x</sub> S <sub>2</sub> MOSFETs. 61
Fig. 4.9 TLM results of Mo <sub>0.92</sub> Nb <sub>0.08</sub> S <sub>2</sub>
Fig. 4.10 Transmission line model for contact resistivity extraction
Fig. 4. 11 (a) $\rho_s$ and (b) $\rho_c$ as a function of Nb mole fraction extracted by TLM results
Fig. 4.12 Transfer characteristics of (a) Mo <sub>0.92</sub> Nb <sub>0.08</sub> S <sub>2</sub> , and (b) Mo <sub>0.93</sub> Nb <sub>0.07</sub> S <sub>2</sub> MOSFETs 64
Fig. 4.13 Impact of Nb mole fraction on (a) effective mobility and (b) effective carrier
concentration
Fig. 4.14 Comparison between effective carrier densities and Nb densities in all tested samples 66

# List of Tables

Table 2.1 Geometry parameters and their variation ranges in 3-nm node FinFETs 1	1
Table 3.1 Capacitor components in simulated 3-nm node and Intel's 14-nm node n-FinFETs 5	0
Table 4.1 Synthesis condition and the resulting Nb mole fraction of Mo <sub>1-x</sub> Nb <sub>x</sub> S <sub>2</sub> samples5	7
Table 4.2 TLM and MOSFET fabrication process flow	0

# Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor Prof. Jason Woo for his guidance and patience to help me navigate through my journey in graduate school. Also, I would like to thank Professor Robert Candler, Professor Mark Goorsky, and Professor Subramanian Iyer for the time to be in my committee

I would like to thank China Scholarship Council (CSC) for their funding from September 2016 to August 2019.

Many thanks to the staff in the UCLA Nanoelectronics Research Facility for their technical support and professional discussion of the process. And special thanks to Dr. You-Sheng Lin, Dr. Max Ho, and Hoc Ngo for the professional discussions of ALD dielectric deposition and 2D TMD's CVD system setup.

Additionally, I would like to thank all my lab mates, Ming, Po-Yen, Esther, Bo-Chao, Weicong, Xicheng, Allen, Scott, Emily, and Rabi, for their valuable discussions and inputs in my research.

Especially, I would like to express the ultimate gratitude to my parents for their unwavering faith in me, which make this thesis possible.

Finally, I would like to thank all the people who have helped me along the way.

# VITA

2012	Bachelor of Science, Precision Instrument and
	Optoelectronics Engineering
	Tianjin University, China
2012	Bachelor of Science, Electronics and Electrical
	Engineering
	University of Glasgow, UK
2014	Master of Science, Electrical Engineering
	University of California, Los Angeles
2016	Ph. D. Candidate, Electrical Engineering
	University of California, Los Angeles

# Publications

Peng Lu, Yen Teng Ho, Yung-Ching Chu, Ming Zhang, Po-Yen Chien, Tien-Tung Luong, Edward Yi Chang, and Jason C.S. Woo, "Electrical Properties of Compound 2D Semiconductor Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub>," *2018 14th IEEE International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology (ICSICT)*, Qingdao, 2018, pp. 1-4, DOI: 10.1109/ICSICT.2018.8564953.

Xicheng Duan, <u>Peng Lu</u>, Weicong Li, and Jason C. S. Woo, "Parasitic resistance modeling and optimization for 10nm-node FinFET," 2018 18th International Workshop on Junction Technology (IWJT), Shanghai, 2018, pp. 1-4, DOI: 10.1109/IWJT.2018.8330306.

<u>Peng Lu</u>, Po-Yen Chien, Xicheng Duan, Jason C. S. Woo, "Deeply scaled VLSI analog transistor design and optimization," 2017 IEEE 12th International Conference on ASIC (ASICON), Guiyang, 2017, pp. 1061-1064, DOI: 10.1109/ASICON.2017.8252662.

Peng Lu, Po-Yen Chien, Jason C.S. Woo, "FinFET Analog Performance Optimization by Graded Channel Concept," *International Workshop on Nanostructure and Technology (IWNT)*, 2017.

Kiyoshi Mori, Giang Dao, Ziep Tran, Michael Ramon, Jason Woo, <u>Peng Lu</u>, "Innovative and 3D stacking Micro Electro Mechanical Systems (I-MEMS) for power saving," *2017 IEEE International Conference on IC Design and Technology (ICICDT)*, Austin, TX, 2017, pp. 1-3, DOI: 10.1109/ICICDT.2017.7993518.

# **Chapter 1**

## Introduction

### 1.1 Overview and motivations

In the past decades, aggressive transistor scaling has been the driving force for the integrated circuit (IC) industry, enabling powerful computers, portable electronics, high-speed wireless communication, and recently IoTs. However, as device geometries are scaled-down, challenges such as short channel effects, variabilities, and power/thermal issues have become major roadblocks. The industry has invested heavily to mitigate these issues and maintain the scaling trend.

FinFETs have been the mainstream technology for the front-end-of-line (FEoL) application since the 22-nm node [1]. The 3D device structure provides a superior electrostatic control compared to planer FETs and features improved short channel effects such as drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL) and sub-threshold swing (*SS*) degradation. The larger current drive per footprint compared with planar devices is preferable for high-speed logic circuits. FinFET technology has enabled further scaling down to 5nm node [2-5]. In addition to transistor scaling, 3D wafer-level packaging (WLP) and 3D integration [6-9] have also been widely accepted as a pathway to further increase the device density. Active device integration [10,11] in the back-end-of-line (BEoL) can be utilized to enhance the interconnect bandwidth, design flexibility, and reduce power consumption.

However, challenges arise in both FEoL and BEoL devices. For FEoL applications, process-induced performance variation, which is already a key limit in 10/14-nm node FinFETs (Fig. 1.1) [2,3], is becoming even more severe in beyond 5-nm node [12-15]. Although advanced

module process technologies have been developed to reduce the geometry parameters' variation in absolute value, their variation in percentage increases in ultra-scaled transistors. Consequently, it is crucial to identify the variability sources in FinFETs with realistic physical parameters and suppress process-induced performance variation in the future 3-nm node FinFETs. Furthermore, FinFET's analog/RF performances are inferior to those in bulk and SOI transistors [16], preventing its applications in the system on chip (SoC) designs. Advanced S/D formation technologies have been developed to precisely control the 3D doping profile in the source/drain extension (SDE) module [17], enabling new dimensions of freedom for design optimizations. In this work, both variability suppression and digital/analog performance enhancement through SDE doping profile optimization are investigated for 3-nm node FinFETs.



Fig. 1.1 Performance variability in Intel's 14 and 10-nm node FinFETs [2]-[3]. Although advanced process control techniques have been developed, variability degrades as geometry parameters are scaled down.

Multi-layered molybdenum disulfide ( $MoS_2$ ), featuring a finite bandgap, high mobility, and possible CMOS BEoL compatible (<400 °C) synthesis process [18-20], is a promising candidate for the active device integration in the BEoL. For such an application, a low access resistance is crucial to reducing the power consumption and increasing the signal bandwidth. Although tremendous effort has been made improve the contact resistivity [21-23] and mobility for access resistance reduction, it is necessary to have the TMD films below the contact to have a carrier concentration in the order of  $10^{15}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> ( $10^{20} \sim 10^{21}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>). Consequently, a selective-area carrier control technique is required for MoS<sub>2</sub> be useful for semiconductor industry. It would be helpful and interesting to investigate a MoS<sub>2</sub>'s controllable doping technique for access resistance reduction in MoS<sub>2</sub> channel FETs.

# **1.1.1 Variability suppression and performance enhancement through 3D SDE doping profile engineering in 3-nm node FinFETs**

Process-induced variability is predicted to be exceedingly severe in ultra-scaled FinFETs beyond the 5-nm node. To guide process optimizations, the variabilities induced by different modules, including the fin, gate stack, ploy pitch, and source/drain (S/D), need to be quantified. In previous works, FinFETs are modeled with idealized fin structures [24-26], and the device performances are analyzed to resemble those in a double-gate (DG) FET [27,28]. However, experimental analysis shows that device performances have become increasingly sensitive to detailed geometry parameters such as the fin taper angle and the bending effect [29-31]. Therefore, realistic module parameters instead of idealized geometries are required for variability analysis. In this work, the FinFET performance's dependency on the non-ideal factors, including the coupling between the intrinsic active fin and the heavily doped sub-fin, the fin taper angle, and the dopant diffusion profile in the SDE region, are systematically analyzed for 3-nm node FinFETs.

In sub-14-nm node FinFETs, the gate underlap design is adopted to suppress the short channel effect (SCE). As the FinFET's poly pitch is continuously scaled-down, the device performances are exceedingly sensitive to the dopant encroachment from the heavily doped S/D towards the intrinsic channel [16,17,26,32,33]. However, to the best of the author's knowledge, the SDE doping profile induced variability has not been systematically analyzed. Although the SDE doping profile's impact on the sub-threshold performance has been analyzed [17,32], the relation between the SDE doping profile and the on-state parasitic resistance ( $R_{S/D}$ ) has not been studied. In this work, FinFETs with realistic doping diffusion gradient is simulated to quantify the SDE doping's impact on the SDE parasitic resistance ( $R_{SDE}$ ) and performance variations. The governing physics is interpreted to guide the design optimization for future generation FinFETs and gate-all-around FETs (GAAFETs).

More importantly, SDE doping profile engineering is proposed as an effective method to suppress the coupling between the channel and the drain fringing field, and thus reduce the FinFET performance's sensitivity to the physical parameter's variation. Advanced S/D formation technologies have been developed to precisely control the fin top recess length (LR) and the vertical profile (in the fin height direction), enabling new dimensions of freedom for design optimizations. The 3D SDE doping profile, previously developed to improve device performance in 7/10-nm node, is shown to be an effective method for variability suppression with minimal modification in the FinFET's process flow. Inspired by the physical interpretations, a 3D SDE doping profile's optimization methodology is also proposed to achieve variability suppression together with  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement in 3-nm node FinFETs. To improve the trade-off between *SS* and the parasitic resistance ( $R_{S/D}$ ), it is crucial to optimize the SDE doping profile concerning the physical parameters in the channel and gate module in future generation transistors.

The 3D SDE doping profile optimization also provides pathways for 3-nm node FinFET's analog performance enhancement. The relatively low cut-off frequency ( $f_T$ ) in FinFETs is known to be limited by the  $R_{S/D}$  and the parasitic capacitance ( $C_{parasitics}$ ) [34,35]. 3D SDE doping profile engineering can be utilized to increase the SDE doping concentration and reduce the  $R_{S/D}$ . Enabled by the advanced S/D formation technologies, a reduction in  $C_{parasitic}$  can also be achieved by spacer and SDE module co-optimization and further enhance  $f_T$ . In this work, an SDE doping and spacer length co-optimization process is demonstrated, resulting in ~80 GHz (~16%)  $f_T$  improvement. The contributions of parasitic resistance and capacitance reduction on  $f_T$  enhancement are quantified, guiding the analog performance optimization in ultra-scaled transistors.

### 1.1.2 Carrier control technique in multi-layered MoS<sub>2</sub>

Both theoretical and experimental studies show that substitutional Nb can be utilized to introduce holes in the 2D MoS<sub>2</sub>. Density function theory calculations have suggested that substitutional Nb in MoS<sub>2</sub> (native n-type) with mole fractions lower than a few percent is a p-type dopant and has little impact on band-structure [36,37]. Experimentally, MoS<sub>2</sub> with Nb demonstrates a p-type behavior [38-42]. MoS<sub>2</sub> with hole concentration as high as  $10^{21}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, corresponding to >10% Nb mole fraction, has been synthesized [40]. However, several challenges remain before achieving a fully controllable doping process. A selective-area precise Nb dose control technique has not been demonstrated. More importantly, for a >10% Nb concentration, the material would be considered as a compound semiconductor, as in the case of bulk semiconductors like SiGe or III/V materials. The impact of high concentration Nb on carrier density needs to be quantified. In this work, a precise Nb mole fraction control technique in the 2D MoS<sub>2</sub> is demonstrated. Multi-layered Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> samples with various Nb concentrations from 3.5% to

11% are synthesized to quantify the role of Nb. TLM structures and MOSFETs are fabricated on the wafer-scale uniform 2D films for electrical characterizations. Highly non-linear relations between Nb mole fraction and hole density, mobility, and contact resistivity are observed, strongly suggesting that the high concentration Nb does not act as an active dopant. The relationships between hole density and Nb mole fraction can be utilized to guide carrier concentration modulation. Increasing the Nb mole fraction from 3.5% to 11% also results in >10<sup>4</sup>× mobility improvement and contact resistivity reduction, both are favorable for achieving S/D regions with low access resistances.

#### **1.2 Organization**

This dissertation is organized into the following chapters.

In Chapter 2, the device performances in FinFETs with realistic geometry parameters are analyzed using TCAD simulation, and the governing physics is investigated to guide variability quantification and suppression. The setup of the TCAD tools and the calibration process are discussed in detail. In this work, the impact caused by the non-ideal factors are systematically analyzed. In the 3-nm node FinFET with realistic module, the fin and the SDE doping are identified as major sources of the process-induced variability. Guided by the physics interpretation, 3D SDE doping profile engineering is demonstrated to be an effective method to suppress process-induced variability in 3-nm node FinFETs.

In Chapter 3, the 3D SDE doping profile's optimization methodology is proposed to improve the digital and analog performance in 3-nm node FinFETs. By optimizing the LR together with the vertical doping profile along the fin height direction, better *SS* and  $R_{S/D}$  trade-off can be

achieved, benefiting both digital and analog performances. A co-optimization of the spacer thickness and the SDE doping is also investigated for parasitic capacitance reduction, further enhancing 3-nm node FinFET's analog performance.

In Chapter 4, the high mole fraction (>3.5%) Nb's impact in MoS<sub>2</sub> is quantified to guide precise carrier control in MoS<sub>2</sub>. The synthesis process and material characterization of wafer-scale  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  films with various Nb mole fractions are discussed. The material and electrical characterization process are demonstrated. The impact of high mole fraction Nb (>3%) on carrier concentration, mobility, and contact resistivity is quantified, and the role of Nb in Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> is analyzed. This chapter is a modified version of "Peng Lu, Yen Teng Ho, Yung-Ching Chu, Ming Zhang, Po-Yen Chien, Tien-Tung Luong, Edward Yi Chang, Jason C.S. Woo, "Electrical Properties of Compound 2D Semiconductor  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$ ", *14th IEEE International Conference on Solid-State and Integrated Circuit Technology* (ICSICT), pp. 1-4, Oct. 2018, DOI: 10.1109/ICSICT.2018.8564953".

Finally, Chapter 5 summarizes the major contributions of this work and suggests future research directions.

# **Chapter 2**

### **3-nm node FinFET's variability quantification and suppression**

### **2.1 Introduction**

Process-induced variability is predicted to be exceedingly severe in ultra-scaled FinFETs beyond the 5-nm node. In this work, Sentaurus [43] TCAD simulations are used to quantify the 3-nm node FinFET's performance variation induced by different modules. Realistic geometry parameters and their variation ranges are characterized by advanced module process results, and the impact of the non-ideal factors are discussed. Rather than semi-classical models [27,44], calibrated quantum mechanical models are used to capture the physics in the ultra-scaled device. To identify the physical mechanisms, Si-channel n-FinFETs' various geometry parameters are studied in detail, and the differences between Si n- and s-SiGe p-FinFETs are discussed.

The gate underlap design has been adopted to suppress the SCE in sub-14-nm node FinFETs. As the FinFET's poly pitch is continuously scaled-down, the device performances are exceedingly sensitive to the dopant encroachment towards the intrinsic channel. In this work, the performance variation induced by the SDE formation process is analyzed. The governing physics, especially the SDE doping profile's impact on the parasitic resistance, is interpreted to guide the design of future generation transistors. More importantly, Advanced source/drain (S/D) formation technologies have been developed to precisely control the fin top recess length (LR) and the vertical profile (in the fin height direction), enabling new dimensions of freedom for design optimizations. The SDE doping profile engineering can be utilized as an effective method to suppress the coupling between the channel and the drain fringing field, and thus reduce the FinFET performance's sensitivity to the physical parameter's variation. The physical mechanism and limitations are demonstrated.

#### 2.2 Simulation setup and calibration

#### 2.2.1 3D FinFET structure setup

In this study, 3nm node FinFET structures featuring tapered fin, double-layered gate stack, and experimentally extracted channel and source/drain junction profile are simulated (Fig. 2.1). The geometry parameters, and the realistic variations ranges (Table I) are extracted from the characterizations of advanced module process results. Advanced de-footing and fin trimming technology (Fig. 2.2(a)) can be employed to realize well-controlled fin width ( $W_{fin}$ , defined as the Si thickness  $T_{Si}$  at the fin top) and fin taper angle ( $\theta$ ). A double-layered gate stack module consisting of a Silicon Oxynitride (SiON) interfacial layer (IL,  $\varepsilon_r$ =6) and a Hafnium Oxide (HfO<sub>2</sub>) high-k (HK,  $\varepsilon_r$ =22.5) layer is simulated. The fluctuation of nitrogen composition in the IL results in a permittivity ( $\varepsilon_r$ ) variation, and consequently causes a variation in the gate stack's Effective Oxide Thickness (EOT). The SDE doping is induced by the diffusion from the heavily doped  $(3.5 \times 10^{20}/1 x 10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3} \text{ for n-/p-FinFET})$  S/D region to the lightly doped channel. The S/D and channel junction profile can be characterized by TEM images (Fig. 2.2(b)). Secondary Ion Mass Spectroscopy (SIMS) measurement shows a steep dopant gradient (~2 nm/dec) at the SDE/channel interface (Fig. 2.2(c)). FinFETs with both vertically uniform (no 3D SDE doping profile engineering, Fig. 2.1(c)) and non-uniform SDE doping profiles (Fig. 2.1(d)) are analyzed in this study. By employing an isotropic S/D recess etch technology with lateral recess length (LR) followed by bi-layer Si:As/Si:P epitaxy regrowth [17], a vertically non-uniform S/D junction

profile (Fig. 2.2(b), referred to as the V-shape profile in this work) featuring reduced dopant encroachment near the sub-fin can be achieved. The fin recess etching process is identified as a variation source, and  $\pm 1$  nm  $\Delta LR$  is observed. The S/D contact resistivity ( $\rho_C$ ) is assumed to be  $1 \times 10^{-9} \Omega \cdot cm^2$  [45].



Fig. 2.1 Schematic of simulated 3-nm node FinFETs (a) the 3D structure, (b) the fin geometry and the gate stack parameters, (c) (d) schematic of the vertically uniform and non-uniform SDE doping profile, respectively (not to scale).



Fig. 2.2 Geometries and variation ranges extracted from advanced module process characterizations. (a) Fin geometry, (b) SDE junction profile [17], and (c) the SIMS of the doping diffusion gradient from the heavily doped S/D to the intrinsic channel.

Geometry parameter	Nominal Value	Variation range
Fin height $(H_{fin})$	50 nm	
Fin pitch	26 nm	
Spacer length (L <sub>spacer</sub> )	5 nm	
Contact resistivity ( $\rho_C$ )	$10^{-9} \Omega\cdot \mathrm{cm}^2$	N/A
Channel material	Si (Si <sub>0.75</sub> Ge <sub>0.25</sub> ) in n-(p)FET	
S/D doping	3.5(1) ×10 <sup>20</sup> cm <sup>-3</sup> in n-(p)FET	
Junction doping gradient	2 nm/dec	
Poly pitch ( $L_G$ )	14 nm	±1.5 nm
Fin top width $(W_{fin})$	26 nm	±1 nm
Taper angle $(\theta)$	1.5°	±1.5°
Gate dielectric EOT	0.6 nm	±0.05 nm
S/D material	Si:As (Si <sub>0.45</sub> Ge <sub>0.55</sub> ) in n-(p-)FET	±5% Ge in p-FET
LR in vertical uniform SDE profiles	0 nm	±1 nm
LR in V-shape SDE profiles	2 nm	±1 nm

Table 2.1 Geometry parameters and their variation ranges in 3-nm node FinFETs

#### **2.2.2 Physical models setup and calibration**

Fig. 2.3 shows the simulation setup in this study. A self-consistent 2D Schrodinger equation and Poisson's equation solver accurately captures the carrier quantum confinement. For both n- and p-FinFET, the channel materials are grown on a <100> surface, and the channel length (carrier transport direction) is along the <110> direction. When the film thickness is scaled down, the density of available state per area reduces in the case of 2D materials, leading to a reduction in quantum capacitance. Since the  $G_G = (C_{Si}^{-1} + C_{OX}^{-1})^{-1}$ , (where the  $C_G$ ,  $C_{Si}$ , and  $C_{OX}$  are the gate capacitance, Si film's quantum capacitance and the gate dielectric's capacitance, respectively,) a smaller  $C_G$  is expected. However, this study shows a trend contrary to expectations (Fig. 2.4(a)). When  $T_{Si}$  reduces from 8 to 5 nm, the gate-channel coupling is enhanced because the inversion charge peak gets closer to the interface, increasing the  $C_{Si}$  and  $C_G$  (~5%). The simulation results match the reported experimental data  $C_G$  vs.  $T_{Si}$  in the latest nanosheet device results [46], adding credibility to the physical interpretation. In the nominal Si fin in n-FinFET, the on-state  $C_{Si}$  is calculated to be 6.68 µF/cm<sup>2</sup>, equivalent to 0.52 nm of EOT. In s-SiGe p-FinFET, the compressive uniaxial stress induced by the S/D stressor is extracted from process simulations. The deformation potential model is included to capture the channel stress's impact on carrier quantum confinement [47]. Since the effective mass of the hole is much larger than that of the electron, the holes distribute closer to the channel/dielectric interface. As a result, the gate-channel coupling is stronger in p-FinFET, and the quantum capacitance ( $C_{SiGe}$ ) is extracted to be 7.34  $\mu$ F/cm<sup>2</sup>, equivalent to 0.47 nm of EOT.



Fig. 2.3 Simulation setup for the 3-nm node FinFET's variability analysis.



Fig. 2.4 The trend of simulated gate capacitance vs. Si thickness agrees with the experimental data in nano-sheet devices [46]. The quantum capacitance increases.

To capture the carrier quasi-ballistic transport in devices with sub-20-nm channel lengths, schemes for the simulation, including Monte Carlo (MC) method, Hydrodynamic (HD) model, and Drift-Diffusion (DD) model with modified saturation velocity ( $v_{sat}$ ), have been proposed. The MC method [48,49], which is based on an indirect solution of the Boltzmann transport equation, has the strongest conceptual basis among all the models discussed and is frequently considered the most accurate approach. However, the computational efforts of the three approaches mentioned above in terms of CPU time yields are estimated to be 1:6:140 for DD, HD, and MC, respectively [48]. Therefore, the MC model is not suitable for a variability study due to the expense of computational cost. Modified HD models with adjusted energy relaxation times have been used to simulate transistors with down to sub-20-nm [50]. However, an over-estimate of the carrier velocity is observed [51]. In this study, a drift-diffusion model with a modified saturation velocity is used to emulate the carrier quasi-ballistic transport [51]. This method is capable of reproducing the velocity profile of the MC method down to <10 nm  $L_G$  (Fig. 2.5). For s-SiGe channel p-FinFET, the effective  $v_{sat}$  is calculated by  $v_{sat} = v_{ballistic} \times ballistic ratio$ , where  $v_{ballistic}$  is the ballistic transport velocity, and *ballistic ratio* is a fitting parameter as a function of  $L_G$ . The dependency of  $v_{ballistic}$ and *ballistic ratio* on the Ge composition, stress and poly pitch are reported in publication [52,53], enabling variability analysis for p-FinFET.



Fig. 2.5 Drift-diffusion model with modified  $v_{sat}$  can be used to emulate the quasi-ballistic transport for L<sub>G</sub><20nm [51].

In this study, the high-field dependence, vertical field degradation (Enormal), and doping dependence model are used to simulate mobilities in ultra-scaled transistors. The high field dependence model with modified  $v_{sat}$  is used to emulate quasi-ballistic transport. A calibrated Enormal model is adopted to capture surface roughness degradation. For n-FET, the simulated mobility agrees with the thin-film FET's experimental data [54] (Fig. 2.6). For p-FET, the models are calibrated against SOI s-Si<sub>0.73</sub>Ge<sub>0.27</sub> FinFET's I-V curve [55] (2.7(a)). The experimentally measure mobility enhancement factor as a function of Ge composition and stress [56] is utilized to simulate stress-induced mobility variation in 3-nm node p-FinFETs with s-Si<sub>0.75</sub>Ge<sub>0.25</sub> channel.



Fig. 2.6 Calibrated electron mobility in the thin film agrees with experimental data [54].



Fig. 2.7 (a) Hole mobility models in s-Si<sub>0.73</sub>Ge<sub>0.27</sub> are calibrated to SOI FinFET I-V characteristics (<2% error) [55], and (b) the mobility enhancement factor is utilized for stress induced variability [56].

To check the accuracy of the above-mentioned platform, simulation results are compared against FinFETs' experimental I-V characteristics. FinFETs with various geometry parameters, including Intel's 14-nm node bulk n- and p-FinFET [2], 10-nm node bulk n-FinFET [3], and Globalfoundries' 10-nm node SOI p-FinFET [55], are tested. For etch transistor, detailed fin geometry and gate stack parameters (Fig. 2.8) are properly modeled, and the SDE doping gradient
is calibrated to fit the sub-threshold slope (*SS*) and drain induced barrier lowering (DIBL). The simulation results agree with n-/p-FinFETs' experimental data (Fig. 2.9), adding credibility to this variability analysis.



Local EOT > 0.8 nm (Intel's TEM shows ~2 nm thick SiON in finfoot,  $\varepsilon_r = 6.5$ )

Fig 2.8 Fin structure setup for Intel's 14-nm node n-FinFET [2].



Fig. 2.9 Simulation results match the experimental data of (a) Intel's 10/14-nm node bulk n-FinFET [2]-[3], (b) Intel's 14-nm node bulk p-FinFET [2], and Globalfoundries' SOI p-FinFET [55].

# 2.3 Device performance of realistic FinFETs

To improve the accuracy of the variability analysis, the device performances in FinFETs with realistic module parameters are quantitatively investigated. In ultra-scaled FinFETs, the device performances are extensively sensitive to non-ideal factors. In an n-FinFET with an idealized fin (taper angle  $\theta=0^{\circ}$ ), both the sub-threshold and on-state currents flow approximately uniformly along the fin height ( $H_{fin}$ ) direction (Fig. 2.10), resembling those in a DG MOSFET. However, a tapered fin is designed in the 3-nm node FinFETs to enhance the robustness of the device, resulting in a ~2.5nm larger fin bottom  $T_{Si}$  than the  $W_{fin}$ . The non-uniform  $T_{Si}$  results in a unique evolution of the current density (Fig. 2.11), featuring a localized leakage path near the sub-fin and a relatively uniform on-state current distribution in the fin cross-section. The difference in current distribution can substantially affect the device performances including  $I_{ON}$ ,  $I_{OFF}$ , constant current threshold voltage ( $V_{TS}$ , defined as the  $V_{GS}$  at  $I_{DS}=10\mu$ A/ $\mu$ m and  $V_{DS}=0.7$ V), sub-threshold swing (SS), and Drain Induced Barrier Lowering (DIBL). To isolate the impact caused by various non-ideal factors, n-FinFETs with both idealized and realistic geometry parameters are analyzed and compared. The device performances' dependency on the realistic physical parameters are quantified, and the governing physics are interpreted.



Fig. 2.10 Current density distribution's evolution in an n-FinFET with an idealized fin ( $\theta$ =0°), a vertically uniform SDE junction profile, and  $V_{DS}$ =0.7V.



Fig. 2.11 Current density distribution's evolution in the nominal 3-nm node n-FinFET without 3D SDE doping profile engineering and  $V_{DS}$ =0.7V. The geometry of the fin is predicted based on advanced module process results.

### 2.3.1 Sub-threshold performance

The sub-threshold current is controlled by the diffusion across the virtual cathode (the location where minimum energy barrier occurred) and is governed by the gate electrostatic control competing with the drain fringing field. For an n-FinFET with an idealized fin, the electric field along the  $H_{fin}$  direction ( $E_X$ ) is negligible in the middle of  $H_{fin}$ , and the sub-threshold performance resembles that in a short channel DG MOSFET. Analytical models of the short channel DG

MOSFET have been widely studied [38,57,58]. However, they are insufficient for FinFET's sub-threshold performance quantification. Since the gate underlap design has been adopted to suppress the SCE since the 14-nm node, it is crucial to properly model the potential or electric field distribution in the relatively lightly doped SDE region. To the best of the author's knowledge, no analytical model has been proposed to accurately capture the impact of the gate underlap design. Therefore, TCAD simulations are required for the 3-nm node FinFET's sub-threshold performance analysis.

The electric field profile in a cut-plane perpendicular to the  $H_{Fin}$  direction (H=25 nm, where *H* is defined as the distance from the fin top) is shown in Fig. 2.12. The space charge density is relatively small in the lightly doped channel, and the electric field induced by the S/D regions (caused by  $V_{DS}$  combined with the S/D and channel built-in potential [38]) terminates at the gate metal. The drain induced fringing field is known to degrade the coupling between gate bias and the virtual cathode. With a fixed physical channel length and gate stack EOT, increasing the  $T_{Si}$ can lead to a larger electric field along the  $T_{Si}$  direction ( $E_Y$ , Fig. 2.13(a)). As a result, the voltage drops in the gate dielectric and the semiconductor increase (Fig. 2.13(b)), reducing the  $E_C$  and the virtual cathode barrier height  $(E_C-E_{fn})$  in the channel (Fig. 2.13(c)). This is analogous to the threshold voltage roll-off effect in SOI and DG MOSFETs. Increasing the  $T_{Si}$  also reduces the ground state energy ( $E_0$ , proportional to  $T_{Si}^{-2}$ ) of the quantum confinement, further increasing the  $I_{OFF}$ . At a fixed gate bias and work function, the  $I_{OFF}$  is observed to be approximately exponentially related to the  $T_{Si}$  (Fig. 2.13(c)). Meanwhile, the larger drain fringing field degrades the coupling between the virtual cathode and the gate bias (Fig. 2.13(d)) and consequently enlarges the SS and DIBL.



Fig. 2.12 The electric field and space charge profile in a cut-plane perpendicular to the  $H_{Fin}$  direction (25 nm from the fin top). The n-FinFET has an idealized fin.



Fig. 2.13 (a) The  $E_Y$  and (b) the barrier profile along the cutline across the virtual cathode as a function of the  $T_{Si}$ , (c) the virtual cathode barrier height, off-state current density normalized to effective conduction width, and (d) the coupling between the virtual cathode barrier height and the gate bias as a function of the  $T_{Si}$ .

Close to the active fin and sub-fin interface, the virtual cathode barrier is modulated by the drain induced fringing field as well as the built-in potential induced by the relatively heavily doped sub-fin (Fig. 2.14(a)). Because of the absence of gate modulation in the sub-fin, the drain fringing field results in a larger  $E_Y$  at H>40 nm (Fig. 2.14(b)). Consequently, the larger potential drops in the gate dielectric and the semiconductor reduce the virtual cathode barrier height (Fig. 2.14(c)). Meanwhile, the barrier profile in the sub-fin is increased by the sub-fin built-in potential, counter-balancing the effect of the larger  $E_Y$ . A combination of the above-mentioned factors results in the lowest barrier energy at H=48.5 nm (Fig. 2.14(d)), leading to a ~2.5× leakage current density compared to that at H=25 nm and contributes to 35% of the total  $I_{OFF}$ .



Fig. 2.14 Electric field and the barrier profile close to the sub-fin. (a) The electric field distribution in the fin crosssection near the virtual cathode, (b) and (c) the comparison between the  $E_Y$  and the barrier profile at the middle of the  $H_{fin}$  (H=25 nm) and near the fin bottom (H=48.5 nm), respectively, and (d) the barrier height along the  $H_{fin}$  direction in the middle of the  $T_{Si}$ .

More importantly, the realistic  $1.5^{\circ}$  tapered fin shows a substantial impact on the n-FinFET's sub-threshold performance. In a tapered fin,  $T_{Si}=W_{fin}+2 \times H \times tan(\theta)$ . In the middle of the  $H_{fin}$  (H=10~40 nm),  $E_X$  is observed to be much smaller (<10<sup>-2</sup>×) than  $E_Y$ , and the local barrier height is mainly modulated by the local  $E_Y$  (Fig. 2.15). As shown in Fig. 2.13, the increase in  $T_{Si}$  leads to a larger drain induced fringing field and a reduced diffusion barrier height. Consequently, the diffusion barrier height reduces approximately linearly as H increases (Fig. 2.15 (b)). The active fin and sub-fin coupling further reduces the barrier height close to the fin bottom, forming a localized virtual cathode (Fig. 2.15(b)) and leakage path (Fig. 2.15(c)). In the 3-nm node FinFET, the  $T_{Si}$  is increased by ~50% (from 5 to ~7.5 nm) from the fin top to the fin bottom, resulting in a 63meV lower virtual cathode barrier height (Fig. 2.15(b)) and a ~10× larger  $I_{OFF}$  than those in an idealized FinFET. In summary, properly modeling the non-ideal factors is of substantial significance for 3-nm node FinFET's sub-threshold performance analysis.



Fig. 2.15 The sub-threshold performance in an n-FinFET with a tapered Fin. (a) The electric field profile in the cross section at the virtual cathode, (b) a comparison of the barrier profiles along the  $H_{fin}$  direction between FinFETs with idealized and realistic fins, and (c) the off-state current distribution in the fin.

### 2.3.2 On-state performance

The FinFET's on-state performance is determined by the total carriers and average carrier velocity across the fin near the source. Therefore, it depends on the gate modulation, carriers' drift transport,  $R_{SD}$ , and gate overdrive. Gate modulation to the first order is determined by  $C_G = (C_{OS}^{-1} + C_{Si}^{-1})^{-1}$ . In an n-FinFET with an idealized fin, the on-state current distributes approximately uniformly in the fin cross-section. This is similar to that in a DG FET, except in the regions close to the fin top and the fin bottom (Fig. 2.16). In section A, the effective conduction width enlarged by the top gate, resulting in a ~24% higher average carrier density and a larger  $I_{ON}$  compared to those near the middle of the  $H_{fin}$ . However, the higher gate electric field degrades the local mobility and the quasi-ballistic velocity, counter-balancing the effect of the increased carrier density. The average current density in section A is observed to be ~15% higher compared to that in the middle of the  $H_{fin}$ . Near the fin bottom (section E), both the absence of gate stack in the sub-fin and the built-in potential between the active fin and the sub-fin reduce the gate modulation, resulting in a ~15% smaller carrier density and  $I_{ON}$ .



Fig. 2.16 The on-state current distribution in an n-FinFET with an idealized fin.



Fig. 2.17 The on-state performance as a function of the  $T_{Si}$  in n-FinFETs with idealized fins. (a) The transfer characteristics, and (b) the  $I_{ON}$  normalized to the effective conduction width, and the linearly extracted  $V_{TH}$  shift.

To quantify the impact of the  $T_{Si}$  on FinFETs' on-state performance, idealized FinFETs with various  $T_{Si}$  from 5 to 9 nm are compared (Fig. 2.17). Within the studied  $T_{Si}$  range, reducing the  $T_{Si}$  by 1 nm leads to a ~2% higher  $C_{Si}$  (Fig. 2.4) [46] and an improvement in the transconductance ( $g_m$ ). However, the higher gate electric field results in a ~5% lower mobility [54], counter-balancing the effect of the  $C_{Si}$  increase. The reduced SDE conduction area also increases the parasitic resistance, further reducing the  $g_m$ . Consequently, a relatively small change (~3%) in  $g_m$  is observed. More importantly, the scaling of the  $T_{Si}$  causes an approximately linear reduction in the  $V_{TH}$  (defined as the linearly extrapolated threshold voltage in the on-state, Fig. 2.17(b)). This is contributed by the lowered  $E_0$  and the reduced density of states in fin cross-section area. Numerically, the  $\Delta V_{TH}$  has a dominating impact on the on-state performance, and the  $I_{ON}$  is approximately linearly related to the  $T_{Si}$  (Fig. 2.17(b)). Reducing the  $T_{Si}$  by 1 nm leads to a ~5% reduction in the  $I_{ON}$ .

In FinFETs with realistic tapered fins, the on-state current density is affected by the change in local  $T_{Si}(T_{Si}=W_{fin}+2\times H\times tan(\theta))$ , top gate modulation, and the degradation of gate modulation near the fin bottom. In section B, C, and D, the increase in the  $T_{Si}$  leads to an enlarged on-state current density (Fig. 2.18). In addition, the local current density is enhanced (suppressed) near the fin top (bottom). Since a FinFET with a tapered fin analogous to DG MOSFETs with different  $T_{Si}$  values in parallel, the  $I_{ON}$  is approximately linearly related to the average  $T_{Si}$  ( $T_{average}$ ).



Fig. 2.18. The on-state current distribution in an n-FinFET with a realistic tapered fin ( $\theta$ =1.5°).

The on-state performance of FinFETs has been reported to be strongly affected by the parasitic resistance [16,17]. Although the SDE parasitic resistance ( $R_{SDE}$ ) is shown to be a significant parasitic component, the relation between the SDE doping profile and the on-state  $R_{SDE}$  has not been systematically analyzed in FinFETs with a gate underlap design. In this work, FinFETs with realistic doping diffusion gradient (Fig. 2.2(c)) are simulated to quantify the SDE doping's impact on the  $R_{SDE}$ .

The FinFET's  $R_{S/D}$  consists of three components: the contact resistance ( $R_C$ ), the epitaxial S/D region's resistance ( $R_{Epi}$ ), and  $R_{SDE}$  (Fig. 2.19). The contact resistivity has been reduced to 10<sup>-9</sup>  $\Omega \cdot \text{cm}^2$ , and the  $R_C$  is extracted to be 180  $\Omega$  per fin per side. The epitaxial S/D region has a relatively low resistance (45  $\Omega$  per fin per side) due to its high doping concentration and the large

conduction area. The  $R_{SDE}$  is extracted to be 345  $\Omega$  per fin per side in an n-FinFET with 0nm LR, and is identified as the largest component in the  $R_{S/D}$ .



Fig. 2.19 Schematics of the parasitic resistance's component in 3-nm node n-FinFET.

In the SDE junction, the local resistivity can be calculated by  $\rho = 1/(q \cdot n \cdot \mu)$ , where *n* is the on-state carrier density (Fig. 2.20(a)). Near the S/D and SDE junction, the *n* is dominated by the dopant diffusion from the heavily doped S/D. Although the high doping concentration degrades the mobility, the local resistivity is relatively low. Near the SDE and channel junction, the on-state carrier density is much higher (>100×) than the doping concentration. The local *n* is mainly modulated by the gate bias (through both fringing field in the spacer and carrier spill-over) and is <0.1× lower than that near the S/D and SDE junction. As a result, the *R*<sub>SDE</sub> is dominated by the SDE and channel junction resistance (Fig. 2.20(b)). Increasing the LR by 1 nm can largely increase the *n* at 3 nm from the S/D and SDE junction (Fig. 2.21), leading to a *R*<sub>SDE</sub> reduction. Meanwhile, the reduced voltage drop on the *R*<sub>S/D</sub> increases the intrinsic V<sub>GS</sub> and the carrier concentration close to the SDE/channel interface, and thus forms a positive feedback to further reduce the *R*<sub>SDE</sub>.

However, the  $R_{SDE}$  reduction effect saturates when LR>2.5 nm. Since the entire SDE region is relatively heavily doped, further increasing the dopant encroachment has little impact on the  $R_{SDE}$ .



Fig. 2.20 (a) The doping and on-state carrier profile along the  $L_G$  direction in the SDE region of an n-FinFET without 3D SDE doping profile engineering, and (b) the corresponding resistivity. The carrier profile is extracted at 1 nm from the channel/gate stack interface, 25 nm from the fin top.



Fig. 2.21 The SDE doping profiles in FinFETs with various LRs and the corresponding carrier profiles near the SDE/channel junction.

### 2.4 Quantification of process-induced variabilities in 3-nm node FinFET

The FinFET performance variations induced by the examined sources are summarized in Fig. 2.22. The fin geometry's variation (taper angle  $\theta$  and top fin width  $W_{fin}$  co-variation) is the dominating contributor for  $\Delta I_{OFF}$ . Both the fin and the SDE (LR) are major sources for  $\Delta I_{ON}$ . 3-nm node n-FinFETs with various geometry parameters are studied in detail to identify the physical mechanisms. Since the  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  are governed by different physics, their sensitivities to the examined geometry parameters are different. The process-induced variabilities contributed by the studied models are analyzed individually.



Fig. 2.22 (a)  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  and (b)  $\Delta I_{ON}$  induced by various sources in n- and p-FinFET without 3D SDE doping profile engineering.

### 2.4.1 Fin module induced variability

The fin geometry can be characterized by three parameters: fin height ( $H_{fin}$ ),  $W_{fin}$ , and  $\theta$  (Fig. 2.1(b)).  $\Delta H_{fin}$  is tightly controlled by an advanced chemical-mechanical polish (CMP) process. Therefore,  $H_{fin}$  is fixed to be 50 nm. The fin module induced variability is caused by the  $\theta$  and  $W_{fin}$  co-variation (Fig. 2.23).

In FinFETs with realistic tapered fins and a vertically uniform SDE doping profile, the leakage path is localized close to the sub-fin. This is caused by the relatively strong coupling between the drain fringing field and the virtual cathode (contributed by the relatively large local  $T_{Si}$  and the degraded gate modulation). The sub-threshold current is modulated by the change in the barrier height and the  $E_0$  of the quantum confinement and demonstrates an exponential relation to the local  $T_{Si}$  close to the leakage path ( $T_{leakage}$ ). Increasing the leakage path thickness ( $T_{leakage}$ ) by 1 nm (from 7 to 8 nm) can lead to a 22 meV reduction in the barrier height in the off state. Meanwhile, the  $E_0$  is also reduced by 7meV, further reducing the  $I_{OFF}$ . The  $\theta$  and  $W_{fin}$  co-variation can lead to  $\pm 3$  nm  $\Delta T_{leakage}$ , and consequently, cause  $\sim 630 \times \Delta I_{OFF}$  (Fig. 2.23(b)). Therefore, the fin module's variation is identified as the dominating contributor of  $\Delta I_{OFF}$ .

Since  $I_{ON}$  flow through the entire fin (Fig. 2.12(c)), it is sensitive to the  $T_{average}$ . Although the  $\Delta T_{average}$  can lead to changes in the mobility [54],  $C_{Si}$  [46], and  $R_{S/D}$ , their impact counterbalance to each other, and result in a relatively small  $\Delta g_m$  (<5%). Consequently,  $\Delta I_{ON} \approx \Delta V_{TH} \times g_m$ . Since the  $V_{TH}$  is approximately linearly related to the  $T_{Si}$  (Fig. 2.17), the  $\Delta I_{ON}$  shows a linear relation to the  $\Delta T_{average}$  induced by the  $W_{fin}$  and  $\theta$  co-variation (Fig. 2.23(c)).



Fig. 2.23 Fin module induced variability in n-FinFETs without 3D SDE doping profile engineering. (a) The  $I_{OFF}$ - $I_{ON}$  distribution, (b) and (c)  $I_{OFF}$  and  $I_{ON}$  as a function of  $T_{leakage}$  and  $T_{average}$ , respectively.

As the FinFETs are scaled down, the  $H_{fin}$  has been continuously increased to improve the effective conduction width and current density per footprint. In a tapered fin,  $T_{Si}=W_{fin}+2\times H\times tan(\theta)$ . Although advanced fin etching technologies have been developed to reduce  $\theta$  from 2.5° in 10-nm node to 1.5° in 3-nm node, the  $\Delta\theta$ -induced  $\Delta T_{leakage}$  and  $\Delta T_{average}$  are similar in absolute value. Since the overall fin thickness is reduced to improve the electrostatic control, the  $\Delta T_{leakage}$  and  $\Delta T_{average}$  become larger in percentage. Consequently, the  $\Delta I_{ON}$  ( $\Delta I_{OFF}$ ) induced by the fin module increases by 4.1× (3.6×) from the 14-nm node to 3-nm node. More importantly, the relatively large  $T_{leakage}$  (~7 nm, close to the sub-fin) degrades the leakage path electrostatic control, increasing the SS and reducing the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  at a fixed  $V_{DD}$ . Therefore, reducing the  $\theta$  without degrading the fin's robustness is crucial for digital performance enhancement in future generation FinFETs.

### 2.4.2 Gate stack module induced variability

The gate module has a substantial impact on both FinFET and planner FETs' performances in previous generations. However, the  $\Delta EOT$  induced variability is predicted to be not as significant in 3-nm node FinFETs. This study assumed that carrier mobility does not degrade when EOT is reduced, which can be achieved by advanced gate stack processing. In the nominal fin architecture (Fig 2.1(b)), the *C*<sub>Si</sub> is extracted to be 6.68 µF/cm<sup>2</sup>, equivalent to 0.52 nm of *EOT*, and is comparable to *C*<sub>OX</sub> (0.6 nm *EOT*). Consequently, an *EOT* reduction from 6.5 Å to 5.5 Å leads to only a 9% increase in *C*<sub>G</sub> (Fig. 2.24). In addition, the high electric-field induced mobility degradation counterbalances the increase in carrier density, and the 3-nm node has a small  $\Delta I_{ON}$ caused by *EOT* variation. The  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  results from the change in both *V*<sub>TS</sub> and *SS*. When *EOT* varies from 6.5Å to 5.5Å, the electrostatic control improves. Therefore, *V*<sub>TS</sub> increases by ~7mV (less DIBL), and *SS* reduces by ~3mV/dec (Fig. 2.13(b)). The  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  caused by  $\Delta$ EOT (~50%) is relatively small compared to that induced by fin geometry variation (over 100× as shown in Fig. 2.23).



Fig. 2.24 (a)  $C_{dielectric}$  and  $C_G$  vs. gate dielectric *EOT*, and (b) gate stack induced performance variation in 3-nm node n-FinFET.

### 2.4.3 SDE module induced variability

The SDE doping has a substantial impact on both the  $R_{SDE}$  and the virtual cathode and drain fringing field coupling, and consequently results in  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  [17]. Increasing the LR from -1 nm (under-etch in the fin recess) to 1 nm (over-etch in the fin recess) can increase the dopant in the relatively lightly doped SDE region (Fig 2.21) and reduce  $R_{SDE}$  by ~40% (Fig. 2.25). The dopant encroachment also results in a stronger coupling between the virtual cathode and the drain fringing field. Therefore, the degraded DIBL increases the gate over-drive, further increasing the  $I_{ON}$ . Combined with the  $R_{SDE}$  reduction, a ~30% higher  $I_{ON}$  is observed. However, the degraded SCE enlarges the *SS* and  $I_{OFF}$ . Although a tight LR control can be achieved through advanced recess etch process,  $\pm 1$  nm  $\Delta$ LR can lead to ~31mV  $\Delta V_{TS}$ . It is comparable to  $\Delta V_{TS}$  induced by metal gate granularity (MGG), which is reported to be a significant variability source. Consequently, it is critical to suppress the device performances' sensitivity to the  $\Delta$ LR. This can be achieved by improving the electrostatic control through both fin trimming and 3D SDE doping profile engineering.



Fig. 2.25  $\pm 1$  nm  $\Delta$ LR induced performance variation in 3-nm node n-FinFETs without 3D SDE doping profile engineering.

### 2.4.4 Comparison between n- and p-FinFET

In 3-nm node p-FinFET with s-Si<sub>0.75</sub>Ge<sub>0.25</sub> channel, the relatively small bandgap leads to a much larger tunneling leakage than that in n-FinFET. In this work, the tunneling leakage is simulated by a calibrated band-to-band tunneling model [59]. A ~3nA/ $\mu$ m tunneling leakage current is observed (Fig. 2.26) and agrees with experimental data [60]. Since the tunneling leakage is less sensitive to the fin geometry, the fin module induced  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  in percentage is smaller than that in n-FinFET (Fig. 2.22(a)).

The gate stack module induced variabilities in p-FinFET are similar to those in n-FinFET (Fig. 2.22). Although the hole has a larger effective mass, the quantum capacitance (equivalent to 0.47 nm of *EOT*) is comparable to that in n-FinFET (equivalent to 0.52 nm of *EOT*). As a result, the  $\pm 0.05$  nm  $\Delta$ EOT has similar impact on  $C_G$  and device performances.

The S/D Ge composition's variation acts as a source of  $\Delta I_{ON}$  in p-FinFET. Since the epitaxial S/D regions are utilized as stressors for channel mobility improvement, the ±5% Ge composition variation in the S/D formation can lead to a ±0.27 GPa change in the channel stress. The stress-variation-induced change in mobility and quasi-ballistic velocity results in a 9%  $\Delta I_{ON}$ .



Fig. 2.26 Tunneling leakage current in the nominal s-Si<sub>0.75</sub>Ge<sub>0.25</sub> p-FinFET

### 2.5 Variability suppression by 3D SDE doping profile engineering

# 2.5.1 Physical interpretation and quantification

The variability quantification shows that the  $\Delta V_{TS}$ , induced by both the fin and SDE module, is a significant contributor for both  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$ . In 3-nm node FinFETs with a tapered fin, the localized leakage path indicates that the sub-threshold performance's variation, including  $\Delta V_{TS}$  and  $\Delta SS$ , can be reduced by improving the electrostatic control around the leakage path. This can be effectively achieved by 3D SDE doping profile engineering.



Fig. 2.27 Schematics of 3D SDE doping profile engineering. (a) The formation process (not to scale), and (b) the resulting doping profile extracted from TEM.

The 3D SDE doping profile engineering can be achieved with minimal modification in the FinFET's process flow (Fig. 2.27). By employing an isotropic S/D recess etch technology followed by bi-layer Si:As/Si:P epitaxy regrowth, a V-shape S/D and SDE profile (Fig. 2.27(b)) can be achieved (extracted from TEM, Fig. 2.2(b)). The V-shape profile features reduced dopant

encroachment near the sub-fin, resulting in a weaker local virtual cathode and drain fringing field coupling. Therefore, the virtual cathode and the leakage path is sifted towards the fin top (Fig. 2.28), and the local electrostatic control is significantly improved by the reduced  $T_{leakage}$  (from ~7 nm to ~5.5 nm) combined with the top gate electric field. Consequently, the device performances' sensitivities geometry parameters suppressed. In addition, since to are  $\Delta T_{leakage} = \Delta W_{fin} + 2 \times H \times tan(\Delta \theta)$ , the leakage path shift also reduces  $\Delta \theta$  induced  $\Delta T_{leakage}$ , further reducing the fin module induced variability. For the on-state performance, the reduction in SDE doping near the sub-fin leads to a larger local  $R_{SDE}$  and smaller  $I_{ON}$ . However, the increased fin top SDE doping reduces the local  $R_{SDE}$ , counter-balancing the overall  $R_{SDE}$  reduction. More importantly, the improved electrostatic control reduces SS and increases gate over-drive at a fixed  $I_{OFF}$ , further improving the  $I_{ON}$ . As a result, the  $I_{ON}$  values are comparable ( $\Delta < 0.5\%$ ) in the nominal FinFETs with different SDE doping profiles.



Fig. 2.28 Impact of V-shape SDE on device performance. (a) The sub-threshold energy barrier profile, and (b) the sub-threshold and on-state current density distribution in the fin cross-section.

Fig. 2.29 and Fig. 2.30 show the fin and SDE module induced variability in FinFETs with various SDE doping profiles, respectively. Compared to the vertically uniform SDE, the V-shape SDE suppresses the fin module induced  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  by  $1.6 \times (1.3 \times)$  and  $4.0 \times (2.7 \times)$  in n-(p-)FinFET, respectively. In addition, the ±1 nm  $\Delta$ LR induced  $I_{ON}$  variation is reduced by  $1.8 \times (2.1 \times)$  in n-(p-)FinFET.



Fig. 2.29 Fin module induced I<sub>ON</sub>-I<sub>OFF</sub> variation in 3-nm FinFETs with various SDE doping profiles.



Fig. 2.30 SDE module induced I<sub>ON</sub>-I<sub>OFF</sub> variation in 3-nm FinFETs with various SDE doping profiles.

### 2.5.2 Limitations of the V-shape SDE doping profile

Although the V-shape SDE doping profile with LR=2 nm can lead to performance enhancement in the 7/10-nm node FinFETs [17], no increase in  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  is observed in the 3-nm node (Fig. 2.29). As discussed before, the trade-off between electrostatic control and the on-state  $R_{SDE}$  is the key for the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement. Fig. 2.31 shows the device performance as a function of LR to find out the optimal dopant encroachment. For all the transistors,  $I_{OFF}$  is fixed at 10nA/µm for high power (HP) application, as indicated in ITRS. Maximized  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  can be achieved at LR=2 nm and 2.5 nm in n- and p-FinFET with the V-shape SDE doping profile, respectively. This result is consistent with the experimental data in 10-nm node FinFETs [17]. However, the optimal  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  values are close to ( $\Delta$ <1%) the value in FinFETs without 3D SDE doping engineering. The performance enhancement effect is limited by the relatively low SDE doping and on-state current density close to the sub-fin (Fig. 2.28). A novel strategy of the 3D SDE doping profile's optimization needs to be investigated for performance enhancement in the 3-nm node.



Fig. 2.31 Device performances vs. LR in 3-nm node n-/p-FinFETs with vertically uniform and V-shape SDE doping profiles. All transistors have fixed  $I_{OFF}$ =10 nA/µm.

# 2.6 Summary

In this section, the process variabilities induced by different modules are quantified in 3-nm node FinFETs, and the governing physical mechanisms are systematically analyzed. In FinFETs with tapered fins and vertically uniform SDE doping profiles, the leakage path is localized close to the fin bottom, while the  $I_{ON}$  flows relatively uniformly in the fin cross-section. Consequently, the  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  show different sensitivities to the geometry parameter's variation. The fin geometry's variation (taper angle  $\theta$  and top fin width  $W_{fin}$  co-variation) is the

dominating source for  $\Delta I_{OFF}$ . Both the fin etching and the SDE recess etch process are major contributors for  $\Delta I_{ON}$ . The localized leakage path indicates that the variabilities can be suppressed by enhancing the local electrostatic control, which can be effectively achieved through 3D SDE doping profile engineering. A V-shape SDE doping profile can enhance the electrostatic control by shifting the leakage path towards the fin top, suppressing the device performances' sensitivities to the geometry parameters.

Although the V-shape SDE doping profile is developed to improve the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  in 7/10-nm node FinFETs, no  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  improvement is observed in the 3-nm node FinFET. In SDE doping profile engineering, the trade-off between SS (sensitive to the SDE doping, poly pitch, EOT, and fin's geometry) and the on-state  $R_{SDE}$  (mainly sensitive to the SDE doping) has been identified as the key for the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement. Consequently, the 3D SDE doping profile needs to be optimized based on the channel and gate stack's physical parameters in future generation transistors to maximize the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$ .

# **Chapter 3**

# **3-nm node FinFET's Performance Enhancement through 3D SDE Doping Profile Engineering**

### **3.1 Introduction**

Compared to planner FETs, FinFET provides increased conduction width per footprint and enhanced current drive, which are preferred for digital applications. Advanced S/D formation technologies have been developed to precisely control the fin top LR and the vertical profile (in the fin height direction), enabling new dimensions of freedom for design optimizations to further improve the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$ . Although the experimental V-shape doping profile can be utilized to improve the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  in the 7/10-nm node FinFETs, it cannot improve the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  in the 3-nm node. To the best of the author's knowledge, no optimization methodology has been proposed for the vertically non-uniform SDE module. In this chapter, an optimization strategy of the 3D SDE doping profile is proposed for 3-nm node FinFETs with realistic physical parameters, improving  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  while maintaining the variability suppression effect.

Although FinFETs can achieve superior digital performance compared to bulk an SOI FETs, their analog performance, especially the  $f_T$ , is inferior compared to bulk and SOI transistors (Fig. 3.1) [16], posting major challenges for their SoC applications. In FinFETs, the analog performance is largely degradation by the parasitic components. Since the 3D SDE doping profile engineering can effectively reduce the  $R_{SDE}$  and  $R_{S/D}$ , it is proposed as an analog performance enhancement method in 3-nm node FinFETs. In addition, enabled by the advanced S/D formation technologies, a reduction in  $C_{parasitic}$  can be achieved by spacer and SDE module co-optimization and further enhance  $f_T$ . In this work, an SDE doping and spacer length co-optimization process is

demonstrated. The contributions of parasitic resistance and capacitance reduction on  $f_T$  enhancement are quantified, guiding analog performance optimization in future generation FinFETs and GAAFETs.



Fig. 3.1  $f_T$  trends by process node [16].  $f_T$  in FinFETs are lower than that in bulk and SOI transistors.

### 3.2 Digital performance optimization

### 3.2.1 Optimization methodology

As discussed before, the performance enhancement effect in a V-shape SDE doping profile is limited by the relatively low on-state current density close to the sub-fin. To further understand the physical insight, the on-state current distribution in an n-FinFET with the nominal fin shape, a V-shape SDE doping profile, and 2 nm LR is investigated in detail. The fin is uniformly separated into five sections along the fin height direction, and the on-state current contributed by each section is summarized in Fig. 3.2. Section E has the smallest *I*<sub>ON</sub> due to its least SDE dopant encroachment.

The *SS* is limited by the coupling between the gate and virtual cathode, which is located at ~15 nm from the fin top (in section B, Fig. 2.19). This is confirmed by the fact that the local value

in section B limits the overall *SS* (72.0 mV/dec) (Fig. 3.3). Since the local *SS* values in other sections, especially sections D and E close to the sub-fin, are smaller than the overall *SS*, the local SDE doping concentration can be increased, trading electrostatic control for  $R_{SDE}$  reduction. As a result, the overall  $R_{SDE}$  can be reduced without degrading the sub-threshold performances and the gate overdrive, and the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  can be improved. The localized leakage path near the fin top also maintains the variability suppression effect, especially the reduction of  $\Delta\theta$  induced performance variation. The gate to virtual cathode coupling is sensitive to both the fin module and the SDE doping. Therefore, the 3D SDE doping profile needs to be optimized with respect to geometry parameters in the fin.



Fig. 3.2 On-state current in an n-FinFET with the nominal fin shape, a V-shape SDE doping profile, and 2 nm LR. (a) The current distribution and the illustration of five sections, and (b) on-state current contribution from each section.



Fig. 3.3 (a)  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  characteristics and (b) SS in each section in an n-FinFET with the nominal fin shape, a V-shape SDE doping profile, and 2 nm LR.

### **3.2.2 Optimization result**

LR from 0 to 3 nm (by a step of 0.5 nm) is tested to find the optimum SDE doping profile. For each LR value, the vertical profile is fine-tuned so that the local  $dJ_{DS}/dV_{GS}$  at different locations along the  $H_{fin}$  direction matches the value at the virtual cathode (overall *SS*). Fig. 3.4 shows the optimized SDE doping profile. The resulting sub-threshold and on-state current distribution in 3-nm node n-FinFETs are demonstrated and compared in Fig. 3.5. A similar trend is observed in p-FinFETs. Since p-FET has a lower peak doping concentration  $(1 \times 10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3})$  than n-FET  $(3.5 \times 10^{20} \text{ cm}^{-3})$ , the optimum dopant encroachment is larger than that in the n-FinFET. The optimized profiles in both n- and p-FinFET feature larger dopant encroachment close to the sub-fin compared to the V-shape profile, reducing the overall  $R_{SDE}$  without degrading the *SS* (Fig. 3.6). This is consistent with the theoretical analysis. As a result, 7% (10%)  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$ enhancement can be achieved (Fig 3.7) by increasing the current density close to the sub-fin in n-(p-)FinFETs.



Fig. 3.4 The optimized 3D SDE doping profile in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFET.

Since the leakage path in a FinFET with the optimized SDE doping profile is localized near the fin top, suppressed fin (Fig 3.6) and SDE module (Fig. 3.8) induced variabilities are observed. Compared to the V-shape profile, the optimized profile trades local electrostatic control for  $R_{SDE}$ reduction close to the sub-fin. Consequently, the device performances become more sensitive to geometry variations. However, numerical analysis shows the increases in fin and SDE process-induced  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  are relatively small. The optimized SDE profile suppresses the fin module induced  $\Delta I_{ON}$  and  $\Delta I_{OFF}$  by  $1.6 \times (1.3 \times)$  and  $3.9 \times (2.6 \times)$  in n-(p-)FinFET, respectively. In addition, the ±1 nm  $\Delta$ LR induced  $I_{ON}$  variation is reduced by  $1.8 \times (2.1 \times)$  in n-(p-)FinFET.



Fig 3.5. Current density distribution in 3-nm node n-FinFETs with different SDE doping profiles.



Fig. 3.6 The R<sub>SDE</sub>-SS trade-off in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFETs with the V-shape and the optimized SDE profiles.



Fig. 3.7 Fin module induced variability in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFETs with various SDE doping profiles.



Fig. 3.8 SDE module induced variability in 3-nm node n- and p-FinFETs with various SDE doping profiles.

### 3.3 Analog performance analysis and optimization

### 3.3.1 Benchmark of 3-nm node FinFET's analog performance

FinFETs have improved electrostatic control, resulting in relatively high output resistance  $(R_{out})$ , favorable for analog applications. However, the  $f_T$  values in the 14/22-nm node FinFETs are relatively low compared to SOI and bulk transistors, limiting their SoC applications. To the first order,  $f_T$  can be predicted by the equation:

$$f_T = \frac{g_{mext}}{2\pi \cdot C_{total}}$$

where  $g_{mext}$  is the extrinsic transconductance and  $C_{total}$  is total capacitance up to Metal 2 routing.  $g_{m\_ext}$  can be calculated by

$$g_{mext} = \frac{g_{mint}}{1 + g_{mint} \cdot R_{S/D}}$$

where  $g_{mint}$  is the intrinsic transconductance and is proportional to the carrier transport velocity. FinFETs have relatively low  $f_T$  mainly because of three reasons: the surface roughness and interface defect induced mobility degradation, the relatively large parasitic resistance, and the increasing parasitic capacitance as the poly pitch is scaled down. The former two factors contribute to the reduction of  $g_{mext}$ , and the latter factor substantially increases  $C_{total}$ .

Fig. 3.9 shows a comparison between the 3-nm node FinFETs without 3D SDE engineering and the extensively studied 14-nm node FinFET. 3-nm FinFET has a much larger  $g_{mext}$  because of the increased effective conduction width (taller fin), reduced  $R_{S/D}$ , and improved quasi-ballistic transport velocity caused by the shorter  $L_G$ . Meanwhile, the reduced  $R_{S/D}$  also leads to higher gain-power efficiency ( $g_{mext}/I_{DS}$ ) (reduced  $I_{DS}^2 \cdot R_{S/D}$ ). Both the improvements are favorable for analog applications.



Fig. 3.9 Comparison of (a) transconductance and (b) gain-power efficiency between 3nm-node and 14-nm node.

Fig. 3.10 demonstrates the schematics of capacitor components.  $C_{total}$  has four components:  $C_{G}$ , the spacer capacitance ( $C_{spacer}$ ) due to the coupling between the gate metal and the heavily doped S/D regions, the MoL capacitance ( $C_{MoL}$ ) due to the coupling between the gate and source/drain contact metal, and BEoL capacitance ( $C_{BEoL}$ ) due to the coupling between the metal wiring up to Metal 2 routing. This study assumes that BEoL metal routing is scaled ideally, and consequently, the  $C_{BEoL}$  does not change between generations. The  $C_{BEoL}$  value is extracted from Intel's 14-nm node experimental data. AC simulations are performed to analyze the  $C_{G}$ ,  $C_{spacer}$ , and  $C_{MoL}$  in the 3-nm node FinFETs. The contact metal's geometries are estimated based on the parameters in the TSMC's 7-nm node technology. The capacitor components are summarized in Table II. The spacer length ( $L_{spacer}$ ) is scaled from 10 nm (14-nm node) to 5 nm (3-nm node), leading to a stronger coupling between the gate metal and the S/D increases  $C_{spacer}$  and  $C_{MoL}$ . However, the reduction in fin pitch from 42 nm to 26 nm reduces the coupling area, counter-balancing the increase in  $C_{spacer}$  and  $C_{MoL}$ . In addition, the  $\varepsilon_r$  of the spacer is reduced from

6.5 to 4.5 through material engineering, further reducing the parasitic capacitances. As a result, the  $C_{spacer}$  and  $C_{MoL}$  increase by ~10%, contributing to ~19% of the  $C_{total}$ .

AC simulations show that the 3-nm node n-FinFET has a peak  $f_T$ =490 GHz, much higher than the values (~400 GHz) in previous generation bulk and SOI transistors. This is mainly caused by the improvement in conduction width per fin and the resulting  $g_{mext}$  increase. The number serves as an upper limit of  $f_T$  in the 3-nm node.



Fig. 3.10 Schematics of 3-nm node FinFET's capacitor components in FEoL and MoL (not to scale). (a) Cross-section along the  $L_G$  direction in the middle of the fin, and (b) perpendicular to the  $H_{fin}$  direction.

Table 3.1 Capacitor components in simulated 3-nm node and Intel's 14-nm node n-FinFETs

Component	3-nm node n-FinFET	14-nm node n-FinFETs
Gate capacitance ( $C_G$ )	4.36×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin	4.70×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin
Spacer capacitance ( $C_{spacer}$ )	0.80×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin	0.75×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin

MoL capacitance ( $C_{MoL}$ )	1.02×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin	0.92×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin
BEoL capacitance ( $C_{BEoL}$ )	3.60×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin	3.60×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin
Total capacitance ( $C_{total}$ )	9.78×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin	9.97×10 <sup>-17</sup> F/fin

### **3.3.2** Analog performance optimization

Although the 3-nm node FinFET is predicted to have an improved  $f_T$  compared to the previous generation transistors, the  $f_T$  may be degraded by the  $C_{BEoL}$  increase caused by the non-ideal routing metal scaling. In addition, the coupling between the gate metal and the adjacent fin's gate contacts becomes increasingly crucial as the fin pitch scales down, introducing additional parasitic capacitances for sub-10-nm node FinFETs [16]. The reduction in the gate contact metal's thickness also leads to an increase in gate resistance, degrading the quality factor and stabilization. Therefore, an intrinsic  $f_T$  enhancement in 3-nm node is not only desired to compensate for worsening parasitic components, but also to increase the power efficiency in high-speed operations. An improved  $g_{mext}$ - $R_{out}$  trade-off is also preferred in the feedback systems.

As discussed before,  $g_{mext}$  is limited by the  $R_{S/D}$ , while  $R_{out}$  is sensitive to DIBL and electrostatic control. Since the 3D SDE doping profile engineering can effectively improve  $R_{S/D}$ without degrading electrostatic control, it can be adopted for FinFET's analog performance enhancement. Fig. 3.11(a) shows the  $g_{mext}$ - $I_{DS}$  curves as a function of LR in FinFETs with the optimized SDE profile for digital application. Increasing the LR from 0 to 2 nm can lead to a 220  $\Omega$ /fin reduction in  $R_{SDE}$  (from 450 to 230  $\Omega$ /fin), resulting in a 13% improved peak  $g_{mext}$  to 356 µS/fin. Further increasing the LR has relatively small impact on  $R_{SDE}$  and  $g_{mext}$  since the SDE region is relatively heavily doped. Compared to a vertically uniform SDE profile (without 3D engineering), the optimized SDE doping profile for digital application (LR=2 nm) can improve the  $g_{mext}$  by 8%. An enhanced  $g_{mext}$ - $R_{out}$  is also observed (Fig. 3.11(b)). A peak  $f_T$  of 540 GHz can be achieved.



Fig. 3.11  $g_{mext}$  enhancement through 3D SDE doping profile engineering. (a)  $g_{mext}$ - $I_{DS}$  curve vs. LR, and (b) the resulting peak  $g_{mext}$  and  $R_{out}$  trade-off.

In addition to  $g_{mext}$  improvement, parasitic capacitance ( $C_{parasitics}$ ) reduction can be achieved by spacer and SDE module co-optimization and further enhance  $f_T$ . Experimental results show that an LR up to 8 nm can be fabricated [17]. By increasing the LR from 2 nm to 8 nm and meanwhile increasing the  $L_{spacer}$  from 5 nm to 11nm, the  $C_{spacer}$  ( $C_{MoL}$ ) can be reduced by  $0.44 \times 10^{-17}$ ( $0.55 \times 10^{-17}$ ) F/fin at the cost of ~90  $\Omega$ /Fin increase in  $R_{SDE}$ . Although the  $g_{mext}$  is reduced to 340  $\mu$ S/Fin (by 4.5%), AC simulation suggests that the  $f_T$  can be further improved by ~5% to 570 GHz.

#### **3.4 Summary**

In this chapter, an optimization strategy of the 3D SDE doping profile is proposed for 3-nm node FinFETs. To improve the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  in future generation transistors, it is crucial to optimize the SDE module based on the physical parameters in the channel and gate modules.
TCAD simulations show that the optimized SDE doping profile can reduce  $R_{SDE}$  without degrading the electrostatic control. As a result, a 7% (10%)  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement can be achieved in n-(p-)FinFETs while maintaining the variability suppression effect. 3D SDE engineering can also be adopted as an effective method for analog performance enhancement. The optimized 3D SDE profile for the digital application can improve the  $g_{mext}$ - $R_{out}$  trade-off, which is favorable for analog applications. Enabled by the advanced S/D formation technologies, an SDE doping and spacer length co-optimization can be performed to reduce both the  $R_{S/D}$  and  $C_{parasitic}$  in 3-nm node n-FinFETs, resulting in a ~80 GHz (~16%)  $f_T$  improvement.

# **Chapter 4**

# **Carrier Density Modulation in Multi-layered MoS<sub>2</sub>**

# 4.1 Introduction

TMDs such as MoS<sub>2</sub>, WS<sub>2</sub>, and WSe<sub>2</sub> have attracted much attention for future electrical device applications [61]-[69]. Due to its ultra-thin nature and CMOS BEoL compatible low temperature (<400 °C) synthesis, multi-layered MoS<sub>2</sub> can be used to realize active devices in the area not used as interconnect (Fig. 4.1). However, challenges need to be addressed before  $2D MoS_2$ can become production viable. One of the key requirements is a controllable doping process in  $MoS_2$  for S/D formation in transistor fabrication. Density function theory calculations suggest that substitutional Nb in MoS<sub>2</sub> (native n-type) with mole fractions lower than a few percent is a p-type dopant and has little impact on band-structure [36,37]. Experimentally, MoS<sub>2</sub> with Nb demonstrates a p-type behavior [38-42]. MoS<sub>2</sub> with hole concentration as high as  $10^{21}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>, corresponding to >10% Nb mole fraction, has been synthesized [40]. However, a selective-area and precise Nb concentration's control technique has not been demonstrated. More importantly, for a >10% Nb concentration, the material would be considered to be a compound semiconductor, as in the case of bulk semiconductors like SiGe or III/V materials. Instead of only modulating the hole concentration, Nb with a high mole fraction can possibly affect other parameters such as mobility and bandgap. The impact of high dose Nb needs to be quantified.

In this chapter, a precise Nb mole fraction control technique in the 2D  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  is demonstrated, and 2D films with various Nb concentration are synthesized and tested to identify the role of high concentration Nb. TLM structures and MOSFETs are fabricated on wafer-scale uniform  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  samples for electrical characterization. The relation between hole concentration and Nb mole fraction is extracted to precisely control the carrier concentration. In addition, Nb mole fraction's impact on the effective mobility ( $\mu_{eff}$ , defined as the average mobility of carriers in the 2D films), contact resistivity ( $\rho_C$ ), and the bandgap are analyzed to guide transistor design.



Fig. 4.1 Schematics of 2D TMD active device integration in the BEoL process.

### 4.2 Multi-layered Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> synthesis and material characterization

Tremendous effort has been made to the synthesis of 2D MoS<sub>2</sub>, including mechanical exfoliation [70], chemical liquid exfoliation [71], chemical vapor deposition (CVD) [72], etc. Among these methods, the sulfidation of the transition metal oxide is a common process to achieve high quality, wafer-scale uniform MoS<sub>2</sub> material. In this work, the multi-layered  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  is synthesized by  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xO_y$  sulfidation in a closed CVD system (Fig. 4.2). Mo and Nb are deposited by co-sputtering on two-inch c-face sapphire wafers in Ar and O<sub>2</sub> ambient at

room temperature and a ~5nm thin layer of Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>O<sub>y</sub> with high uniformity is achieved. The ratio between Mo and Nb can be tuned by the sputtering gun power as well as the shutter opening time. The sulfidation of Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>O<sub>y</sub> is carried out in a closed system furnace with H<sub>2</sub>S (10% mixed with Ar) reactive gas under a partial pressure of 200 Torr with a temperature profile ramped up by +20°C/min to 650°C for 30min then raised to 750°C for 60min. After the sulfurization process, the samples were cooled down to room temperature. Seven samples with various Nb mole factions are synthesized to quantify the impact of high concentration Nb, and the synthesis parameters are summarized in table 4.1. It is worthwhile noting that the Nb mole fraction in the Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>O<sub>y</sub> and the Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> are different. Since MoO<sub>x</sub> sublimates in the >650 °C heat treatment, while NbO<sub>x</sub> does not sublimate, the Nb mole fraction in Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> is higher than that in Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>O<sub>y</sub>. In addition, the Nb sputtering deposition rate is not constant in the process, and the Nb dose is not linearly related to the Nb deposition time.



Fig.4.2 Schematics of the two-step CVD technique for wafer scale multi-layered Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> synthesis.

Sample	А	В	С	D	Е	F	G
Mo DC sputtering condition	300 W for 30 sec						
Nb AC sputtering power (W)	20	30	30	20	30	40	50
Nb AC sputtering time (sec)	15	10	30	300	300	300	300
Gas flow in sputtering	15 sccm Ar + 15 sccm $O_2$ for 300 sec						
Sulfidation condition	Closed system, 200 torr 10% H <sub>2</sub> S, 650°C for 30min + 750°C for 60min						
Nb mole fraction by SIMS	3.5%	5.5%	7.0%	7.5%	8.0%	10.0%	11.0%

Table 4.1 Synthesis condition and the resulting Nb mole fraction of Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> samples

Transmission electron microscopy (TEM) shows that the samples have 10~12 well order layers (Fig. 4.3). Nb mole fractions of the samples are extracted by SIMS measurements. The uncertainty of the SIMS measurement is <0.5%. The SIMS result of Mo<sub>0.92</sub>Nb<sub>0.08</sub>S<sub>2</sub> (sample E) is shown in Fig. 4.4 as an example. Mo and Nb doses are estimated with *Dose = Atomic count / Yield* of SIMS. Atomic counts of Mo and Nb are calculated by integrating atomic counts from 20 sec to the 2D/Sapphire interface. Yield<sub>Mo</sub> / Yield<sub>Nb</sub> is calibrated to be 1.05. The first 20 sec (corresponding to the top  $\sim 2$  nm of the films) in the SIMS reading is ignored due to surface memory effect. The Mo:Nb count ratio varies by <15% from 20 sec to the 2D/sapphire interface, suggesting Nb atoms are relatively uniformly distributed in the film. This uniform distribution of Nb is verified by X-ray photoelectron spectroscopy (XPS) and scanning tunneling microscope (STM). No Nb-O bond is detected in XPS measurements, suggesting no presence of NbO<sub>x</sub>. STM shows a bandgap of ~0.68 eV (Fig. 4.5), implying there is no clustered Nb or clustered NbS<sub>2</sub> semi-metal. In addition, no interstitial defects are observed under TEM. Consequently, most of the Nb atoms are incorporated in the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  lattice and distribute uniformly in the 2D film. This phenomenon is observed in all the tested samples.



Fig. 4.3 TEM image of the multi-layered  $Mo_{0.92}Nb_{0.08}S_2$ . All samples are observed to have 10~12 layers.



Fig. 4.4 SIMS measurement for Nb mole fraction extraction. Data of Mo<sub>0.92</sub>Nb<sub>0.08</sub>S<sub>2</sub> is shown as an example.



Fig. 4.5 STM result of Mo<sub>0.92</sub>Nb<sub>0.08</sub>S<sub>2</sub>. A 0.68 eV bandgap is observed.

The selective-area capability of the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  CVD process is also investigated. Fig. 4.6 shows a preliminary result. By patterning the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xO_y$  by lithography followed by sulfidation, a selective-area synthesis can be achieved. With this method, the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  can be patterned as S/D regions with high hole concentration in an enhancement mode  $MoS_2$  channel p-MOSFET. Since the  $MoS_2$  is formed by a sublimation-redeposition process, the film's thickness is sensitive to the pattern's shape of the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xO_y$ , and 2D film is observed outside of the patterned area (because of the gas phase reaction and redeposition of the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$ ). Therefore, an etching process is required to remove the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  out of S/D areas in enhancement mode MOSFET's.



Fig. 4.6 Selective area synthesis of Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> by pattering Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>O<sub>y</sub> before sulfidation.

#### **4.3 Device fabrication and electrical characterization**

TLM structures and MOSFETs are fabricated on the wafer-scale uniform 2D films to quantify the impact of Nb mole fraction on electrical characteristics. Table 4.2 shows the fabrication process flow. Since  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  films are p-type, 40 nm of palladium (Pd), which has a large work function (~5.12 eV), is used as contact metal to achieve low contact resistivity. Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> is deposited by ALD as the gate dielectric with a relatively large EOT of 12 nm. For every Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> deposition, a bare Si wafer, processed by a buffered oxide etch (BOE) for native oxide removal, is placed in the ALD chamber to monitor the quality of the dielectric. The MOSCAP measurements confirm the 12 nm EOT. Fig. 4.7 and Fig. 4.8 show the schematics of the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  TLM structures and MOSFET, respectively.

Step	Process	Condition and comments				
0	Mo <sub>1-x</sub> Nb <sub>x</sub> S <sub>2</sub> on sapphire					
1	Active area mask	Lithography with PR AZ5214-E				
2	Active area patterning	CF <sub>4</sub> plasma etching 30 sec at 100W				
3	Mask removal	PR strip with acetone				
4	S/D and TLM contact area mask	Image reverse lithography with PR AZ5214-E				
5	S/D and TLM contact metal deposition	40 nm Pd and 80 nm Au e-beam evaporation				
6	Metal contact formation using lift-off	PR strip with acetone				
7	TLM measurement					
8	Gate dielectric deposition	Al <sub>2</sub> O <sub>3</sub> by thermal ALD at 200 °C, 200 cycles				
9	Gate contact mask	Image reverse lithography with PR AZ5214-E				
10	Gate metal deposition	80 nm Al e-beam deposition				

Table 4.2 TLM and MOSFET fabrication process flow

11Gate contact formation using lift-offPR strip with acetone12S/D opening maskImage reverse lithography with PR AZ5214-E13Oxide removalBuffered Oxide Etcher 15-30 sec14Mask removalPR strip with acetone15MOSFET measurementImage reverse lithography with PR AZ5214-E



Fig. 4.7 Layout of the TLM structure.



Fig. 4.8 Layout and channel cross-section schematics (not to scale) of Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> MOSFETs.

#### 4.3.1 TLM results and analysis

TLM results (Fig. 4.9) are used to extract sheet resistivity ( $\rho_s$ ) and  $R_c$  in each sample. For each sample, multiple TLMs are measured, and the variation between devices is found to be <5%. This confirms the high uniformity of the 2D films. The average values of electrical properties are used in the analysis. Transmission line model (Fig. 4.10) is used to calculate the contact resistivity ( $\rho_c$ ). The resistance of the contact metal is assumed to be much smaller than  $\rho_s$  and  $\rho_c$  and is ignored in the extractions. The total contact resistance (under the width of W) can be derived [73] as

$$R_{C} \times W = \sqrt{\rho_{c} \rho_{s}} \operatorname{coth} \left( L_{con} \sqrt{\frac{\rho_{s}}{\rho_{c}}} \right)$$

where  $L_{con}$  is the contact length. Furthermore, the transfer length  $(L_T)$  can be defined as  $L_T = (\rho_c/\rho_s)^{0.5}$ . With the long overlapping region of the 2D layers and metal contact (20 µm),  $L_{con} >> L_T$  can be assumed. The contact resistance can be approximated as

$$R_C \times W = \frac{\rho_c}{L_T}$$

The  $\rho_s$  and  $\rho_c$  extracted from the tested samples are summarized in Fig. 4.11 and will be used in the *p* and  $\mu$  extraction process from MOSFETs' data.



Fig. 4.9 TLM results of  $Mo_{0.92}Nb_{0.08}S_2$ .



Fig. 4.10 Transmission line model for contact resistivity extraction.



Fig. 4. 11 (a)  $\rho_s$  and (b)  $\rho_c$  as a function of Nb mole fraction extracted by TLM results.

#### 4.3.2 MOSFET results and analysis

To further understand the Nb concentration's impact on electrical parameters, effective carrier concentration (*p*) and  $\mu_{eff}$  are extracted from transfer characteristics in Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> MOSFET with various Nb mole fractions. In this study, *p* is defined as the average sheet carrier concentration of 10~12 layers of 2D TMD with  $V_{GS}=0$  V. Fig. 4.12(a) shows the transfer characteristics of MOSFET with Mo<sub>0.92</sub>Nb<sub>0.08</sub>S<sub>2</sub> channel as an example. An average extrinsic transconductance ( $g_{mext}$ ) of -3.27x10<sup>-2</sup> mS/mm is measured at  $V_{DS}=1$  V. The negative  $g_{mext}$  displays a p-type behavior, which is shared by all tested samples. The Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> transistors are modeled

as long channel MOSFETs with the parasitic resistances and gate interface traps. The  $\mu_{eff}$  can be extracted using

$$\mu_{eff} = g_{mint} / \left( \frac{W}{L_G} \times C_G \times V_{DS} \times \frac{R_{CH}}{R_{CH} + 2 \times R_{S/D}} \times \frac{\Delta Q_{mobile}}{\Delta Q_{total}} \right)$$

where  $g_{mint}$  is the intrinsic transconductance,  $C_G$  is the gate capacitance,  $R_{CH}$  is the channel resistance, and  $\Delta Q_{mobile}$  and  $\Delta Q_{total}$  are the mobile and total charge density modulated by the gate respectively.  $g_{mint}$  can be calculated as

$$g_{mint} = g_{mext} / (1 - g_{mext} \times R_{S/D})$$

and  $C_G$  can be extracted as

$$C_{G} = \left(C_{OX}^{-1} + \left(C_{IT} + C_{Q}\right)^{-1}\right)^{-1}$$

where  $C_{OX}$ ,  $C_{IT}$  and  $C_Q$  are the dielectric capacitance, interface trap capacitance and quantum capacitance respectively.



Fig. 4.12 Transfer characteristics of (a) Mo<sub>0.92</sub>Nb<sub>0.08</sub>S<sub>2</sub>, and (b) Mo<sub>0.93</sub>Nb<sub>0.07</sub>S<sub>2</sub> MOSFETs.

In the extraction,  $V_{DS} \times R_{CH}/(R_{CH} + 2 \times R_{S/D})$  represents the impact of parasitic resistance on voltage drop in the channel region. Based on the model and assumptions,  $\Delta Q_{total} = \Delta Q_{mobile} + \Delta Q_{IT}$ , where  $\Delta Q_{IT}$  is the interface trap density. The  $\Delta Q_{mobile}/\Delta Q_{total}$  term in the  $\mu_{eff}$  extraction counts for the impact of dielectric interface traps.  $\Delta Q_{IT}$  can be estimated by the hysteresis in  $I_{DS}$ - $V_{GS}$  curves. The FET transfer characteristic with the largest hysteresis is shown in Fig. 4.12(b).  $\Delta Q_{IT}$  is found to be non-uniform across all devices, and the highest  $\Delta Q_{IT}$  is measured to be <7% of  $\Delta Q_{total}$ . Consequently, it is reasonable to assume  $\Delta Q_{mobile} / \Delta Q_{total} = 1$ . Therefore,  $C_Q + C_{IT} \approx C_Q$ .  $C_Q$  of the  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  is assumed to be similar to that in multi-layered MoS<sub>2</sub> [74,75], and  $C_Q \sim 10^{-5}$  F/cm<sup>2</sup> (equivalent to 0.35 nm EOT). With the relatively thick gate dielectric (EOT=12 nm) used,  $C_{OX}$  is much smaller than  $C_Q$ , and therefore  $C_G \approx C_{OX}$ . All transistors tested have negligible gate leakage currents (I<sub>G</sub>) below 2 pA/ $\mu$ m within the applied gate bias range. With  $\Delta Q_{mobile}/\Delta Q_{total}$  underestimated, slightly under-estimated the  $\mu_{eff}$  is (<8%). is calculated using p  $p = L/(q \times R_{CH} \times \mu_{eff} \times W)$  at  $V_G = 0$  V. Since  $\mu_{eff}$  is slightly under-estimated, p is slightly overestimated. Fig. 4.13 shows the impact of Nb mole fraction on  $\mu_{eff}$  and p.



Fig. 4.13 Impact of Nb mole fraction on (a) effective mobility and (b) effective carrier concentration.

#### 4.4 Role of high concentration Nb in Mo1-xNbxS2

Theoretical analysis suggests that substitutional low mole fraction Nb acts as a p-type dopant in MoS<sub>2</sub> [28]-[29]. However, the highly non-linear relation between *p* and Nb mole fraction observed in this work strongly suggests otherwise. One hypothesis of this non-linear relation is that the change in *p* is caused by the difference in density of sulfur vacancies instead of the Nb dose. Although sulfur vacancies can act as donors in MoS<sub>2</sub> [76], SIMS results suggest that its density is much smaller than the *p* in all samples. Therefore, the influence of sulfur vacancy is negligible. The Nb's role can be verified by comparing Nb density and *p* (Fig. 4.14) in the tested samples. The Nb density is estimated by assuming Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> has a similar lattice constant as compared to MoS<sub>2</sub> ( $10^{15}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> Mo/Nb atoms per layer). Fig. 4.14 shows that *p* is less than 50% of Nb density for all samples. If the Nb atoms act as substitutional impurities (~100% activation rate according to material characterization), the ionization rate is less than 50% at room temperature for all the tested samples and is significantly smaller than the ~100% ionization rate for conventional dopants.



Fig. 4.14 Comparison between effective carrier densities and Nb densities in all tested samples

The high concentration Nb's impact on  $\mu_{eff}$  and bandgap also indicate that Nb does not act as an active dopant. A non-linear relation between  $\mu_{eff}$  and Nb mole fraction is also observed (Fig. 4.13(s)).  $\mu_{eff}$  improves dramatically (by >4000×) when Nb mole fraction increases from 7% to 8%, while  $\mu_{eff}$  stays within an order of magnitude for Nb mole fraction from 3.5% to 7% and from 8% to 11%. This non-linear  $\mu_{eff}$  variation is not caused by the difference in films' grain size, which can be a limiting factor in 2D's mobility. TEM shows an average distance between lattice disorders of ~50 nm for all samples, so the impact of grain size on  $\mu_{eff}$  is not significant. Therefore, the change in  $\mu_{eff}$  is believed to be caused by the difference in Nb mole fraction. If Nb acts only as an active dopant,  $\mu_{eff}$  has been suggested to be limited by impurity scattering [40], and mobility decreases with increasing Nb density. However, the increase in  $\mu_{eff}$  observed in this work contrasts with the trend of mobility degradation. More importantly, a bandgap of ~0.68eV is observed by STM in  $Mo_{0.92}Nb_{0.08}S_2$ , which is much smaller than the ~1.3eV bandgap of multi-layered  $MoS_2$ [28]. Nb with >3.5% mole fraction not only modulates carrier density but also reduces the bandgap of the 2D TMD. In conclusion, Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> with >3.5% Nb concentration can be viewed as a compound 2D TMD semiconductor.

#### 4.5 Summary

In this study, a precise Nb mole fraction control technique in the 2D Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> is demonstrated, and the impact of the high mole fraction (>3.5%) Nb in MoS<sub>2</sub> is quantified. Multi-layered Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub> are synthesized by a Mo/Nb co-sputtering process followed by a closed-system sulfidation. The Nb mole fraction can be well controlled by modulating the Nb sputtering condition, resulting in carrier concentration from  $8 \times 10^{13}$  to  $5 \times 10^{14}$  cm<sup>-2</sup> ( $9 \times 10^{19}$  to  $5 \times 10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) in the 2D film. Electrical characterizations show that a high carrier density ( $>2 \times 10^{20}$  cm<sup>-3</sup>) can be achieved by introducing a substitutional Nb of >8%, suitable for S/D formation in  $MoS_2 MOSFETs$ . The Nb mole fraction from 3.5% to 11% demonstrates highly non-linear impact on the carrier density, mobility, and contact resistance, suggesting that Nb does not act as an active dopant, as reported in previous publications. Instead,  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  can be viewed as a compound 2D TMD semiconductor. The extracted relation between the Nb mole fraction and the carrier density can guide precise carrier density control. Increasing the Nb mole fraction from 3.5% to 11% also results in >10<sup>4</sup>× mobility improvement and contact resistivity reduction, both are favorable for achieving S/D regions with low access resistances.

# **Chapter 5**

# Conclusions

# 5.1 Summary

### 5.1.1 3D SDE doping profile engineering in 3-nm node FinFETs

Advanced S/D formation technologies have been developed to precisely control the 3D doping profile in the SDE region, enabling new dimensions of freedom for design optimizations. In this work, 3D SDE doping profile engineering is demonstrated as an effective method to suppress process-induced variability in FinFETs, which is extensively crucial for the future 3-nm node. In FinFETs with realistic tapered fin, the sub-threshold current is localized, while the  $I_{ON}$  distributes almost uniformly in the fin.  $I_{ON}$  and  $I_{OFF}$ 's sensitivity to different geometry parameters are systematically analyzed using TCAD simulations, and the governing physics are investigated. The localized leakage path indicates that the variabilities can be suppressed by enhancing the local electrostatic control, which can be achieved through 3D SDE doping profile engineering. By using a V-shape SDE doping profile, which is previously developed for  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement in 7/10-nm node FinFETs, the leakage path can be shifted towards the fin top. The electrostatic control enhancement caused by  $T_{Si}$  reduction and top gate modulation suppresses the device performances' sensitivities to the physical parameter variations.

A 3D SDE doping profile's optimization strategy is also proposed for the 3-nm node FinFETs. In the SDE doping profile engineering, the trade-off between electrostatic control and the on-state  $R_{SDE}$  has been identified as the key for the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement. The relation between the SDE doping and the  $R_{SDE}$  is systematically analyzed to guide the design optimization. To maximize the  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$ , it is crucial to optimize the SDE doping profile based on the physical parameters in the channel and gate module. Compared to the experimental V-shape profile, the optimized SDE doping profile can reduce  $R_{SDE}$  without degrading the electrostatic control, resulting in a 7% (10%)  $I_{ON}/I_{OFF}$  enhancement in n- (p-)FinFETs while maintaining the variability suppression effect. The 3D SDE doping profile optimization can be also be utilized as an effective method for analog performance enhancement. The optimized 3D SDE profile for the digital application can be used to improve the  $g_{mext}$ - $R_{out}$  trade-off, which is favorable for analog applications. Enabled by the advanced S/D formation technologies, an SDE doping and spacer length co-optimization can be performed to reduce both the  $R_{S/D}$  and  $C_{parasitic}$  in 3-nm node n-FinFETs, resulting in a ~80 GHz  $f_T$  improvement.

# 5.1.2 Carrier density modulation in multi-layered MoS<sub>2</sub>

In this study, a precise Nb mole fraction control technique in the 2D  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  is developed to module the carrier density in the 2D film.  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  films with various Nb concentration are synthesized and tested to identify the role of high concentration (>3.5%) Nb. The Nb mole fraction from 3.5% to 11% demonstrates highly non-linear impact on carrier density, mobility, and contact resistance. This strongly suggests that Nb does not act as an active dopant, as reported in previous publications. Instead,  $Mo_{1-x}Nb_xS_2$  can be viewed as a compound 2D TMD semiconductor. The extracted relation between Nb mole fraction and carrier density provides guidance for precise carrier density control. Increasing the Nb mole fraction from 3.5% to 11% also results in >10<sup>4</sup>× mobility improvement and contact resistivity reduction, both are favorable for achieving S/D regions with low access resistances.

### **5.2 Suggestions for Future Research**

The followings are some possible directions for further investigations:

- Quantification and suppression of 3-nm node FinFET's analog performance variation: 3-nm node FinFET demonstrates improved analog performances compared to previous generation transistors. However, process-induced and statistical analog performance variation needs to be systematically analyzed. This study shows that both  $g_{mext}$  and  $R_{out}$  are sensitive to the dopant encroachment in the SDE module.  $g_{mext}$ ,  $f_T$ , and  $f_{max}$  are known to be sensitive to the gate overdrive, which has a strong dependency on the fin's geometry and the gate stack. In addition, variations in linearity and noise need to be analyzed. A device-circuit co-optimization is proposed to investigate the trade-off between different parameters and guide FinFET's design optimization for analog applications.
- Process induced variability in nanosheet FET (NSFET) and nanowire FET (NWFET): For future generation transistors with a sub-10-nm physical channel length, new technologies such as NSFET and NWFET have been proposed. With further scaled device dimensions, these transistors are predicted to be extensively sensitive to process-induced geometry variations. The reduced physical channel length also enhances the coupling between the virtual cathode to the drain fringing field, increasing the device performances' sensitivity to the SDE doping profile. Since the 3D SDE doping profile needs to be co-optimized with the channel's geometry, the strategy of SDE optimization need to be re-analyzed. More importantly, new variation sources, such as the spacing between nanosheet and the gate stack's non-uniformity, need to be investigated to guide design and process optimization.
- Low-temperature synthesis of high-quality 2D MoS<sub>2</sub>: In order to build 2D TMD based BEoL active devices, one of the main challenges is to synthesize 2D material with high

mobility at a low-temperature compatible to CMOS BEoL process (< 400°C). CVD related synthesis processes, being able to form wafer-scale uniform 2D films, are most suitable for VLSI fabrication. However, a relatively high temperature is required to achieve full conversion of metal or metal oxide precursors. Even in H<sub>2</sub>-assisted [77] and Te-assisted CVD [78], the reaction temperature is still not compatible with the BEoL process (> 500°C for MoS<sub>2</sub>). Large area multi-layered MoS<sub>2</sub> growth can be achieved at 400°C by magnetron sputtering MoS<sub>2</sub> target [79] and MOCVD [80]. However, a post-deposition annealing process is required to enhance the 2D TMD's crystallinity, making it unsuitable for electronic applications. A 2-step CVD with remote plasma-enhanced sulfurization can possibly solve the drawbacks mentioned above in existing 2D TMD synthesis processes. Low temperature (< 300°C) sulfidation has been demonstrated by a direct plasma PECVD [81]. In order to avoid the plasma charging effect to the low-k material in CMOS BEoL, a remote plasma enhanced sulfidation process needs to be investigated to achieve < 400°C reaction temperature.

• Contact resistance reduction of multi-layered Mo<sub>1-x</sub>Nb<sub>x</sub>S<sub>2</sub>: In this work, a relatively low contact resistivity of 10<sup>-3</sup>  $\Omega$ -cm is demonstrated on multi-layered Mo<sub>0.89</sub>Nb<sub>0.11</sub>S<sub>2</sub>. However, the contact resistance is measured to be  $3 \times 10^4 \Omega / \mu m$  and needs to be reduced by a factor of >100 to meet the requirement of BEoL electronics. The large contact resistance is partially caused by the low mobility (~1.5 cm<sup>2</sup>/V·sec) and the resulting high sheet resistivity. For BEoL active devices, the contact's dimension is assumed to be in the 0.1  $\mu m$  level (dimension of metal routing), and the contact resistance can be approximated by  $R_c \times W = \sqrt{\rho_c \rho_s}$ . By improving the 2D film's crystallinity combined with substrate/encapsulation engineering, a  $\mu \approx 100 \text{ cm}^2/\text{V} \cdot \text{sec}$  (approximately the value in mechanically exfoliated MoS<sub>2</sub>) is expected, resulting in a ~10×reduction in contact resistance. Advanced stack contact, such as metal/semiconductor and

metal/semiconductor/nm-insulator stacks, and low-temperature post-deposition annealing need to be investigated to further reduce the contact resistivity.

# **Bibliography**

[1] C. H. Jan, U. Bhattacharya, R. Brain, S.- J. Choi, G. Curello, G. Gupta, W. Hafez, M. Jang, M. Kang, K. Komeyli, T. Leo, N. Nidhi, L. Pan, J. Park, K. Phoa, A. Rahman, C. Staus, H. Tashiro, C. Tsai, P. Vandervoorn, L. Yang, J.-Y. Yeh and P. Bai, "A 22nm SoC platform technology featuring 3-D tri-gate and high-k/metal gate, optimized for ultra low power, high performance and high density SoC applications," *2012 International Electron Devices Meeting*, San Francisco, CA, 2012, pp. 3.1.1-3.1.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2012.6478969.

[2] S. Natarajan, M. Agostinelli, S. Akbar, M. Bost, A. Bowonder, V. Chikarmane, S. Chouksey, A. Dasgupta, K. Fischer, Q. Fu, T. Ghani, M. Giles, S. Govindaraju, R. Grover, W. Han, D. Hanken, E. Haralson, M. Haran, M. Heckscher, R. Heussner, P. Jain, R. James, R. Jhaveri, I. Jin, H. Kam, E. Karl, C. Kenvon, M. Liu, Y. Luo, R. Mehandru, S. Morarka, L. Neiberg, P. Packan, A. Paliwal, C. Parker, P. Patel, R. Patel, C. Pelto, L. Pipes, P. Plekhanov, M. Prince, S. Rajamani, J. Sandford, B. Sell, S. Sivakumar, P. Smith, B. Song, K. Tone, T. Troeger, J. Wiedemer, M. Yang and K. Zhang, "A 14nm logic technology featuring 2nd-generation FinFET, air-gapped interconnects, self-aligned double patterning and a 0.0588 µm<sup>2</sup> SRAM cell size," 2014 IEEE International Francisco, Electron Devices Meeting, San CA. 2014, 3.7.1-3.7.3. DOI: pp. 10.1109/IEDM.2014.7046976.

[3] C. Auth, A. Aliyarukunju, M. Asoro, D. Bergstrom, V. Bhagwat, J. Birdsall, N. Bisnik, M. Buehler, V. Chikarmane, G. Ding, Q. Fu, H. Gomez, W. Han, D. Hanken, M. Haran, M. Hattendorf, R. Heussner, H. Hiramatsu, B. Ho, S. Jaloviar, I. Jin, S. Joshi, S. Kirby, S. Kosaraju, H. Kothari, G. Leatherman, K. Lee, J. Leib, A. Madhavan, K. Marla, H. Meyer, T. Mule, C. Parker, S. Parthasarathy, C. Pelto, L. Pipes, I. Post, M. Prince, A. Rahman, S. Rajamani, A. Saha, J. Dacuna

Santos, M. Sharma, V. Sharma, J. Shin, P. Sinha, P. Smith, M. Sprinkle, A. St. Amour, C. Staus, R. Suri, D. Towner, A. Tripathi, A. Tura, C. Ward and A. Yeoh, "A 10nm high performance and low-power CMOS technology featuring 3rd generation FinFET transistors, Self-Aligned Quad Patterning, contact over active gate and cobalt local interconnects," *2017 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, 2017, pp. 29.1.1-29.1.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2017.8268472.

[4] Daewon Ha, C. Yang, J. Lee, S. Lee, S. H. Lee, K.-I. Seo, H.S. Oh, E.C. Hwang, S.W. Do, S.C. Park, M.-C. Sun, D.H. Kim, J.H. Lee, M.I. Kang, S.-S. Ha, D.Y. Choi, H. Jun, H.J. Shin, Y.J. Kim, J. Lee, C.W. Moon, Y.W. Cho, S.H. Park, Y. Son, J.Y. Park, B.C. Lee, C. Kim, Y.M. Oh, J.S. Park, S.S. Kim, M.C. Kim, K.H. Hwang, S.W. Nam, S. Maeda, D.-W. Kim, J.-H. Lee, M.S. Liang and ES Jung, "Highly manufacturable 7nm FinFET technology featuring EUV lithography for Low Power and High Performance Applications," 2017 IEEE Symposium on VLSI Technology, Kyoto, 2017, pp. 68-69, DOI: 10.23919/VLSIT.2017.7998202.

[5] Geoffrey Yeap, S.S. Lin, Y.M. Chen, H.L. Shang, P.W. Wang, H.C. Lin, Y.C. Peng, J.Y. Sheu, M. Wang, X. Chen, B.R. Yang, C.P. Lin, F.C. Yang, Y.K. Leung, D.W. Lin, C.P. Chen, K.F. Yu, D.H. Chen, C.Y. Chang, H.K. Chen, P. Hung, C.S. Hou, Y.K. Cheng, J. Chang, L. Yuan, C.K. Lin, C.C. Chen, Y.C. Yeo, M.H. Tsai, H.T. Lin, C.O. Chui, K.B. Huang, W. Chang, H.J. Lin, K.W. Chen, R. Chen, S.H. Sun, Q. Fu, H.T. Yang, H.T. Chiang, C.C. Yeh, T.L. Lee, C.H. Wang, S.L. Shue, C.W. Wu, R. Lu, W.R. Lin, J. Wu, F. Lai, Y.H. Wu, B.Z. Tien, Y.C. Huang, L.C. Lu, Jun He, Y. Ku, J. Lin, M. Cao, T.S. Chang and S.M. Jang, "5nm CMOS Production Technology Platform featuring full-fledged EUV, and High Mobility Channel FinFETs with densest 0.021μm<sup>2</sup> SRAM cells for Mobile SoC and High Performance Computing Applications," *2019 IEEE* 

*International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, USA, 2019, pp. 36.7.1-36.7.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM19573.2019.8993577.

[6] W. Rhett Davis, John Wilson, Stephen Mick, Jian Xu, Hao Hua, Christopher Mineo, Ambarish M. Sule, Michael Steer, and Paul D. Franzon, "Demystifying 3D ICs: the pros and cons of going vertical," *in IEEE Design & Test of Computers*, Nov.-Dec. 2005, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 498-510, DOI: 10.1109/MDT.2005.136.

[7] Christianto C. Liu, Shuo-Mao Chen, Feng-Wei Kuo, Huan-Neng Chen, En-Hsiang Yeh, Cheng-Chieh Hsieh, Li-Hsien Huang, Ming-Yen Chiu, John Yeh, Tsung-Shu Lin, Tzu-Jin Yeh, Shang-Yun Hou, Jui-Pin Hung, Jing-Cheng Lin, Chewn-Pu Jou, Chuei-Tang Wang, Shin-Puu Jeng and Douglas C.H. Yu, "High-performance integrated fan-out wafer level packaging (InFO-WLP): Technology and system integration," *2012 International Electron Devices Meeting*, San Francisco, CA, 2012, pp. 14.1.1-14.1.4. DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2012.6479039.

[8] S. Y. Hou, W. Chris Chen, Clark Hu, Christine Chiu, K. C. Ting, T. S. Lin, W. H. Wei, W. C. Chiou, Vic J. C. Lin, Victor C. Y. Chang, C. T. Wang, C. H. Wu and Douglas Yu, "Wafer-Level Integration of an Advanced Logic-Memory System Through the Second-Generation CoWoS Technology," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Oct. 2017, vol. 64, no. 10, pp. 4071-4077, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2017.2737644.

[9] D. B. Ingerly, S. Amin, L. Aryasomayajula, A. Balankutty, D. Borst, A. Chandra, K. Cheemalapati, C.S. Cook, R. Criss, K. Enamul, W. Gomes, D. Jones, K.C. Kolluru, A. Kandas, G.-S. Kim, H. Ma, D. Pantuso, C.F. Petersburg, M. Phen-givoni, A.M. Pillai, A. Sairam, P. Shekhar, P. Sinha, P. Stover, A. Telang and Z. Zell, "Foveros: 3D Integration and the use of Face-to-Face Chip Stacking for Logic Devices," *2019 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* 

(*IEDM*), San Francisco, CA, USA, 2019, pp. 19.6.1-19.6.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM19573.2019.8993637.

[10] V. Pangracious, H. Mehrez and Z. Marakchi, "Designing a 3D tree-based FPGA:
Optimization of butterfly programmable interconnect topology using 3D technology," 2013 IEEE
International 3D Systems Integration Conference (3DIC), San Francisco, CA, 2013, pp. 1-8. DOI:
10.1109/3DIC.2013.6702342.

[11] C. Song, K. Xue, S. Yang, Z. Yong, H. Li, X. Jing, U. Lee and W. Zhang, "Si interposer with high aspect ratio copper filled TSV for system integration," 2015 IEEE International Interconnect Technology Conference and 2015 IEEE Materials for Advanced Metallization Conference (IITC/MAM), Grenoble, 2015, pp. 245-248. DOI: 10.1109/IITC-MAM.2015.7325653.

[12] S. Balasubramanian, N. Pimparkar, M. Kushare, V. Mahajan, J. Bansal, T. Shimizu, V. Joshi,
K. Qian, A. Dasgupta, K. Chandrasekaran, C. Weintraub and A. Icel, "Near-threshold circuit variability in 14nm FinFETs for ultra-low power applications," *2016 17th International Symposium on Quality Electronic Design (ISQED)*, Santa Clara, CA, 2016, pp. 258-262. DOI: 10.1109/ISQED.2016.7479210.

[13] X. Jiang, S. Guo, R. Wang, Y. Wang, X. Wang, B. Cheng, A. Asenov and R. Huang, "New insights into the near-threshold design in nanoscale FinFET technology for sub-0.2V applications," 2016 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), San Francisco, CA, 2016, pp. 28.4.1-28.4.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2016.7838499.

[14] R. S. Rathore, A. K. Rana and R. Sharma, "Threshold voltage variability induced by statistical parameters fluctuations in nanoscale bulk and SOI FinFETs," *2017 4th International Conference* 

on Signal Processing, Computing and Control (ISPCC), Solan, 2017, pp. 377-380. DOI: 10.1109/ISPCC.2017.8269707.

[15] T. Karatsori, C. Theodorou, R. Lavieville, T. Chiarella, J. Mitard, N. Horiguchi, C. A. Dimitriadis and G. Ghibaudo, "Statistical characterization and modeling of drain current local and global variability in 14 nm bulk FinFETs," *2017 International Conference of Microelectronic Test Structures (ICMTS)*, Grenoble, 2017, pp. 1-5, DOI: 10.1109/ICMTS.2017.7954263.

[16] H.-J. Lee, S. Rami, S. Ravikumar, V. Neeli, K. Phoa, B. Sell and Y. Zhang, "Intel 22nm FinFET (22FFL) Process Technology for RF and mm Wave Applications and Circuit Design Optimization for FinFET Technology," *2018 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM*), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 14.1.1-14.1.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2018.8614490.

[17] S. Mochizuki, B. Colombeau, L. Yu, A. Dube, S. Choi, M. Stolfi, Z. Bi, F. Chang, R. A. Conti,
P. Liu, K. R. Winstel, H. Jagannathan, H.-J. Gossmann, N. Loubet, D. F. Canaperi, D. Guo, S.
Sharma, S. Chu, J. Boland, Q. Jin, Z. Li, S. Lin, M. Cogorno, M. Chudzik, S. Natarajan, D. C.
McHerron and B. Haran, "Advanced Arsenic Doped Epitaxial Growth for Source Drain Extension
Formation in Scaled FinFET Devices," *2018 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* (*IEDM*), San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 35.2.1-35.2.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2018.8614543.

[18] K. F. Mak, C. Lee, J. Hone, J. Shan and T. F. Heinz, "Atomically Thin MoS<sub>2</sub>: A New Direct-Gap Semiconductor," *in Phys. Rev. Lett.*, Sep. 2010, vol. 105, issue. 13, 136805, DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.105.136805.

[19] K. Kaasbjerg, K. S. Thygesen, and K. W. Jacobsen, "Phonon-limited mobility in n-type single-layer MoS<sub>2</sub> from first principles," *in Phys. Rev. B*, Mar. 2012, vol. 85, issue. 11, 115317, DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.85.115317.

[20] H. Cun, M. Macha, H. Kim, K. Liu, Y. Zhao, T. LaGrange, A. Kis and Aleksandra Radenovic,
"Wafer-scale MOCVD growth of monolayer MoS<sub>2</sub> on sapphire and SiO<sub>2</sub>," *in Nano Res.*, Aug.
2019, vol. 12, pp. 2646–2652, https://doi.org/10.1007/s12274-019-2502-9.

[21] A. Rai, A. Valsaraj, H. Movva, A. Roy, R. Ghosh, S. Sonde, S. Kang, J. Chang, T. Trivedi, R. Dey, S. Guchhait, S. Larentis, L. Register, E. Tutuc and S. Banerjee, "Air stable doping and intrinsic mobility enhancement in monolayer molybdenum disulfide by amorphous titanium suboxide encapsulation," *in Nano Lett.*, Jun. 2015, vol. 15, issue 7, pp. 4329-4336, DOI: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.5b00314.

[22] C. D. English, G. Shine, V. E. Dorgan, K. C. Saraswat and E. Pop, "Improved Contacts to MoS2 Transistors by Ultra-High Vacuum Metal Deposition," *in Nano Letters*, May 2016, vol. 16, issue 6, pp. 3824-3830, DOI: 10.1021/acs.nanolett.6b01309.

[23] K. Chen, S. Lai, B. Wu, C. Chen and S. Lin, "Van der Waals Epitaxy of Large-Area and Single-Crystalline Gold Films on MoS<sub>2</sub> for Low-Contact-Resistance 2D–3D Interfaces," *in ACS Appl. Nano Mater.*, Feb. 2020, vol. 3, issue 3, pp. 2997-3003, DOI: 10.1021/acsanm.0c00262.

[24] A. Asenov, B. Cheng, X. Wang, A. R. Brown, D. Reid, C. Millar and C. Alexander, "Simulation based transistor-SRAM co-design in the presence of statistical variability and reliability," *2013 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, Washington, DC, 2013, pp. 33.1.1-33.1.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2013.6724741.

[25] G. Espiñeira, D. Nagy, G. Indalecio, A. J. García-Loureiro, K. Kalna and N. Seoane, "Impact of Gate Edge Roughness Variability on FinFET and Gate-All-Around Nanowire FET," *in IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 510-513, April 2019, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2019.2900494. [26] M. S. Badran, H. H. Issa, S. M. Eisa and H. F. Ragai, "Low Leakage Current Symmetrical Dual-k 7 nm Trigate Bulk Underlap FinFET for Ultra Low Power Applications," *in IEEE Access*, vol. 7, pp. 17256-17262, 2019, DOI: 10.1109/ACCESS.2019.2895057.

[27] A. R. Brown, N. Daval, K. K. Bourdelle, B. Nguyen and A. Asenov, "Comparative Simulation Analysis of Process-Induced Variability in Nanoscale SOI and Bulk Trigate FinFETs," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Nov. 2013, vol. 60, no. 11, pp. 3611-3617, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2013.2281474.

[28] Xiaoping Liang and Yuan Taur, "A 2-D analytical solution for SCEs in DG MOSFETs," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 51, no. 9, pp. 1385-1391, Sept. 2004, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2004.832707.

[29] Y. Wang, Y. H. Yong, B. Liu, D. Zhou, M. Togo, D. Choi, J. G. Lee, H. Lo, X. Dou, S. Gu, S. Shintri, W. Tong, V. Sargunas and J, Argandona, "Wafer Level Variability Improvement by Spatial Source/Drain Activation and Ion Implantation Super Scan for FinFET Technology," *in IEEE Transactions on Semiconductor Manufacturing*, vol. 31, no. 3, pp. 371-375, Aug. 2018, DOI: 10.1109/TSM.2018.2847040.

[30] N. Seoane, G. Indalecio, D. Nagy, K. Kalna and A. J. García-Loureiro, "Impact of Cross-Sectional Shape on 10-nm Gate Length InGaAs FinFET Performance and Variability," in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices, vol. 65, no. 2, pp. 456-462, Feb. 2018, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2017.2785325.

[31] T. Y. Wen, B. Colombeau, C. I. Li, S. Y. Liu, B. N. Guo, H.V. Meer, M. Hou, B. Yang, H.C. Feng, C. F. Hsu, C. C. Huang, Y. T. Tasi, H. P. Chen, S. A. Huang, C. W. Huang, C. H. Chen,J. C. Lin, K. H. Shim, J. Kuo, S. Lee, L. Holcman, K. Nafisr, J. Fernandez, D. Fung, N. H. Yang,

J. Y. Wu and G. C. Hung, "Fin Bending Mitigation and Local Layout Effect Alleviation in Advanced FinFET Technology through Material Engineering and Metrology Optimization," *2019 Symposium on VLSI Technology*, Kyoto, Japan, 2019, pp. T110-T111, DOI: 10.23919/VLSIT.2019.8776517.

[32] K. Liu and E. Chen, "Investigation of the Effects and the Random-Dopant-Induced Variations of Source/Drain Extension of 7-nm Strained SiGe n-Type FinFETs," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 66, no. 2, pp. 847-854, Feb. 2019, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2018.2884246.

[33] J. Yoon, J. Jeong, S. Lee and R. Baek, "Sensitivity of Source/Drain Critical Dimension Variations for Sub-5-nm Node Fin and Nanosheet FETs," in *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 67, no. 1, pp. 258-262, Jan. 2020, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2019.2951671.

[34] P. Lu, P. Chien, X. Duan and J. C. S. Woo, "Deeply scaled VLSI analog transistor design and optimization," *2017 IEEE 12th International Conference on ASIC (ASICON)*, Guiyang, 2017, pp. 1061-1064, DOI: 10.1109/ASICON.2017.8252662.

[35] X. Duan, P. Lu, W. Li and J. C. S. Woo, "Parasitic resistance modeling and optimization for 10nm-node FinFET," 2018 18th International Workshop on Junction Technology (IWJT), Shanghai, 2018, pp. 1-4, DOI: 10.1109/IWJT.2018.8330306.

[36] A. Kuc and T. Heine, "On the Stability and Electronic Structure of Transition-Metal Dichalcogenide Monolayer Alloys  $Mo_{1-x}X_xS_{2-y}Se_y$  with X = W, Nb," *in Electronics*, Dec. 2015, vol. 5, issue 1, pp. 1, DOI: 10.3390/electronics5010001.

[37] R. S. Title and M. W. Shafer, "Band Structure of the Layered Transition-Metal Dichalcogenides: An Experimental Study by Electron Paramagnetic Resonance on Nb-Doped

MoS<sub>2</sub>," *in Phys. Rev.* B, Jan. 1972, vol. 28, issue 13, pp. 808-810, DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevLett.28.808.

[38] J. A. Wilson and A. D. Yoffe, "The Transition Metal Dichalcogenides Discussion and Interpretation of the Observed Optical, Electrical and Structural Properties," *in Advances in Physics*, 1969, vol. 18, no. 73, pp. 193–335, DOI: 10.1080/00018736900101307.

[39] K. Dolui, I. Rungger, C. D. Pemmaraju and S. Sanvito, "Possible Doping Strategies for MoS<sub>2</sub>
Monolayers: An ab Initio Study," *in Phys. Rev. B*, Aug. 2013, vol. 88, issue. 7, 075420, DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.88.075420.

[40] M. R. Laskar, D. N. Nath, L. Ma, E. W. Lee, C. Hee Lee, T. Kent, Z. Yang, R. Mishra, M. A. Roldan, J. Idrobo, S. T. Pantelides, S. J. Pennycook, R. C. Myers, Y. Wu and S. Rajan, "p-type Doping of MoS<sub>2</sub> Thin Films Using Nb," *in Appl. Phys. Lett.*, Mar. 2014, vol. 104, issue 9, 092104, DOI: 10.1063/1.4867197.

[41] S. Das, M. Demarteau and A. Roelofs, "Nb-doped Single Crystalline MoS<sub>2</sub> Field Effect Transistor," *in Appl. Phys. Lett.*, Apr. 2015, vol. 106, issue. 17, 173506, DOI: 10.1063/1.4919565.

[42] J. Suh, T. Park, D. Lin, D. Fu, J. Park, H. Jung, Y. Chen, C. Ko, C. Jang, Y. Sun, R. Sinclair, J. Chang, S. Tongay and J. Wu, "Doping Against the Native Propensity of MoS<sub>2</sub>: Degenerate Hole Doping by Cation Substitution," *in Nano Lett.*, Nov 2014, vol. 14, no. 12, pp. 6976–6982, DOI: 10.1021/nl503251h.

[43] Sentaurus User's Manual, Synopsys, Mountain View, CA, USA, 2018.

[44] E. Baer, A. Burenkov, P. Evanschitzky and J. Lorenz, "Simulation of process variations in FinFET transistor patterning," 2016 International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor *Processes and Devices (SISPAD)*, Nuremberg, 2016, pp. 299-302, DOI: 10.1109/SISPAD.2016.7605206.

[45] H. Wu, O. Gluschenkov, G. Tsutsui, C. Niu, K. Brew, C. Durfee, C. Prindle, V. Kamineni, S. Mochizuki, C. Lavoie, E. Nowak, Z. Liu, J. Yang, S. Choi, J. Demarest, L. Yu, A. Carr, W. Wang, J. Strane, S. Tsai, Y. Liang, H. Amanapu, I. Saraf, K. Ryan, F. Lie, W. Kleemeier, K. Choi, N. Cave, T. Yamashita, A. Knorr, D. Gupta, B. Haran, D. Guo, H. Bu and M. Khare, "Parasitic Resistance Reduction Strategies for Advanced CMOS FinFETs Beyond 7nm," *2018 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 35.4.1-35.4.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2018.8614661.

[46] C.Yeung, J. Zhang, R. Chao, O. Kwon, R. Vega, G. Tsutsui, X. Miao, C. Zhang, C. Sohn, B. Moon, A. Razavieh, J. Frougier, A. Greene, R. Galatage, J. Li, M. Wang1, N. Loubet, R. Robison, V. Basker, T Yamashita and Dechao Guo, "Channel Geometry Impact and Narrow Sheet Effect of Stacked Nanosheet," *2018 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, San Francisco, CA, 2018, pp. 28.6.1-28.6.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2018.8614608.

[47] M. M. Rieger and P. Vogln, "Electronic-band parameters in strained  $Si_{1-x}Ge_x$  alloys on  $Si_{1-y}Ge_y$  substrates", *in Phys. Rev. B*, Nov. 1993, vol. 48, issue. 19, pp.14276-14287, DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.48.14276.

[48] F. M. Bufler, Y. Asahi, H. Yoshimura, C. Zechner, A. Schenk and W. Fichtner, "Monte Carlo simulation and measurement of nanoscale n-MOSFETs," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Feb. 2003, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 418-424, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2002.808420.

[49] R. Granzner, V. Polyakov, F. Schwierz, M. Kittler, T. Doll, "On the suitability of DD and HD models for the simulation of nanometer double-gate MOSFETs," *in Physica E*, Jul. 2003, vol. 19, issues 1–2, pp. 33-38, DOI: 10.1016/S1386-9477(03)00290-X.

[50] H. M. Nayfeh, J. L. Hoyt and D. A. Antoniadis, "Investigation of scaling methodology for strained Si n-MOSFETs using a calibrated transport model," *IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting* 2003, Washington, DC, USA, 2003, pp. 19.5.1-19.5.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2003.1269325.

[51] R.Granzner, V. M. Polyakov, F. Schwierz, M. Kittler, R. J. Luyken, W. Rösner, M. Städele, "Simulation of nanoscale MOSFETs using modified drift-diffusion and hydrodynamic models and comparison with Monte Carlo results", *in Microelectronic Engineering*, Feb. 2006, vol. 83, issue 2, pp. 241-246, DOI: 10.1016/j.mee.2005.08.003.

[52] Munkang Choi, V. Moroz, L. Smith and Joanne Huang, "Extending drift-diffusion paradigm into the era of FinFETs and nanowires," 2015 International Conference on Simulation of Semiconductor Processes and Devices (SISPAD), Washington, DC, 2015, pp. 242-245, DOI: 10.1109/SISPAD.2015.7292304.

[53] J. T. Teherani, "A Comprehensive Theoretical Analysis of Hole Ballistic Velocity in Si, SiGe, and Ge: Effect of Uniaxial Strain, Crystallographic Orientation, Body Thickness, and Gate Architecture," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Aug. 2017, vol. 64, no. 8, pp. 3316-3323, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2017.2708691.

[54] G. Tsutsui, M. Saitoh, T. Saraya, T. Nagumo and T. Hiramoto, "Mobility enhancement due to volume inversion in [110]-oriented ultra-thin body double-gate nMOSFETs with body thickness

less than 5 nm," 2005 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), Technical Digest., Washington, DC, 2005, pp. 729-732, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2005.1609456.

[55] P. Hashemi, K. Balakrishnan, A. Majumdar, A. Khakifirooz, W. Kim, A. Baraskar, L. A. Yang, K. Chan, S. U. Engelmann, J. A. Ott, D. A. Antoniadis, E. Leobandung and D. Park, "Strained Si<sub>1-x</sub>Ge<sub>x</sub>-on-insulator PMOS FinFETs with excellent sub-threshold leakage, extremelyhigh short-channel performance and source injection velocity for 10nm node and beyond," *2014 Symposium on VLSI Technology (VLSI-Technology): Digest of Technical Papers*, Honolulu, HI, 2014, pp. 1-2, DOI: 10.1109/VLSIT.2014.6894344.

[56] O. Weber, T. Irisawa, T. Numata, M. Harada, N. Taoka, Y. Yamashita, T. Yamamoto, N. Sugiyama, M. Takenaka and S. Takagi, "Examination of Additive Mobility Enhancements for Uniaxial Stress Combined with Biaxially Strained Si, Biaxially Strained SiGe and Ge Channel MOSFETs," *2007 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting*, Washington, DC, 2007, pp. 719-722, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2007.4419047.

[57] A. F. Abo-Elhadeed and W. Fikry, "Compact model for short and ultra thin symmetric double gate," *2010 International Conference on Microelectronics*, Cairo, 2010, pp. 24-27, DOI: 10.1109/ICM.2010.5696130.

[58] H. Jung, "Subthreshold swing model using scale length for sub-10 nm junction-based doublegate MOSFETs," *in International Journal of Electrical and Computer Engineering*, Apr. 2020, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 1747~1754, DOI: 10.11591/ijece.v10i2.pp1747-1754.

[59] W. Li and J. C. S. Woo, "Optimization and Scaling of Ge-Pocket TFET," *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Dec. 2018, vol. 65, no. 12, pp. 5289-5294, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2018.2874047.

85

[60] G. Tsutsui, C. Durfee, M. Wang, A. Konar, H. Wu, S. Mochizuki, R. Bao, S. Bedell, J. Li, H. Zhou, D. Schmidt, C. J. Yang, J. Kelly, K. Watanabe, T. Levin, W. Kleemeier, D. Guo, D. Sadana, D. Gupta, A. Knorr and H. Bu, "Leakage aware Si/SiGe CMOS FinFET for low power applications," *2018 IEEE Symposium on VLSI Technology*, Honolulu, HI, 2018, pp. 87-88, DOI: 10.1109/VLSIT.2018.8510639.

[61] M. Chen, C. Lin, K. Li, L. Li, C. Chen, C. Chuang, M. Lee, Y. Chen, Y. Hou, C. Lin, C. Chen, B. Wu, C. Wu, I. Yang, Y. Lee, W. Yeh, T. Wang, F. Yang and C. Hu, "Hybrid Si/TMD 2D Electronic Double Channels Fabricated using Solid CVD Few-layer-MoS2 Stacking for Vth Matching and CMOS-Compatible 3DFETs," 2014 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), San Francisco, CA, 2014, pp. 33.5.1-33.5.4, doi: 10.1109/IEDM.2014.7047163.

[62] H. Liu and P. D. Ye, "MoS<sub>2</sub> Dual-gate MOSFET with Atomic-layer-deposited Al<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub> as
Top-gate Dielectric," *in IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, Apr. 2012, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 546-548, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2012.2184520.

[63] K. Ganapathi, S. Bhattacharjee, S. Mohan and N. Bhat, "High-Performance HfO2 Back
Gated Multilayer MoS<sub>2</sub> Transistors," *in IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, Apr. 2016, vol. 37, no. 6, pp.
797-800, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2016.2553059.

[64] W. Cao, W. Liu, J. Kang and K. Banerjee, "An Ultra-Short Channel Monolayer MoS<sub>2</sub> FET Defined by the Curvature of a Thin Nanowire," *in IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, Sep. 2016, vol. 37, no. 11, pp. 1497-1500, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2016.2614663.

[65] X. Zhang, D. Xie, J. Xu, Y. Sun, X. Li, C. Zhang, R. Dai, Y. Zhao, X. Li, X. Li and H. Zhu, "MoS<sub>2</sub> Field-Effect Transistors with Lead Zirconate-Titanate Ferroelectric Gating," *in IEEE Electron Device Lett.*, Oct. 2015, vol. 36, no. 8, pp. 1091-1093, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2015.2472297. [66] L. Yu, D. El-Damak, S. Ha, X. Ling, Y. Lin, A. Zubair, Y. Zhang, Y. Lee, J. Kong, A. Chandrakasan and T. Palacios, "Enhancement-mode Single-layer CVD MoS<sub>2</sub> FET Technology for Digital Electronics," 2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM), Washington, DC, 2015, pp. 32.3.1-32.3.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2015.7409814.

[67] D. Krasnozhon, S. Dutta, C. Nyffeler, Y. Leblebici and A. Kis, "High-frequency, Scaled MoS<sub>2</sub> Transistors," *2015 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting (IEDM)*, Washington, DC, 2015, pp. 27.4.1-27.4.4, DOI: 10.1109/IEDM.2015.7409781.

[68] J. Kumar, M. A. Kuroda, M. Z. Bellus, S. Han and H. Chiu, "Full-range Electrical Characteristics of WS<sub>2</sub> Transistors," in Appl. Phys. Lett., Mar. 2015, vol. 106, issue. 12, 123508, DOI: 10.1063/1.4916403.

[69] W. Cao, J. Kang, S. Bertolazzi, A. Kis and K. Banerjee, "Can 2D-Nanocrystals Extend the Lifetime of Floating-Gate Transistor Based Nonvolatile Memory?" *in IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, Oct. 2014, vol. 61, no. 10, pp. 3456 – 3464, DOI: 10.1109/TED.2014.2350483.

[70] H. Li, J. Wu, Z. Yin, and H. Zhang, "Preparation and applications of mechanically exfoliated single-layer and multilayer MoS<sub>2</sub> and WSe<sub>2</sub> nanosheets," *in Accounts of Chemical Research*, Apr. 2014, vol. 47, no. 4, pp. 1067-1075, DOI: 10.1021/ar4002312.

[71] J. N. Coleman, M. Lotya, A. O'Neill, S. D. Bergin, P. J. King, U. Khan, K. Young, A. Gaucher, S. De, R. J. Smith, I. V. Shvets, S. K. Arora, G. Stanton, H.-Y. Kim, K. Lee, G. T. Kim, G. S. Duesberg, T. Hallam, J. J. Boland, J. J. Wang, J. F. Donegan, J. C. Grunlan, G. Moriarty, A. Shmeliov, R. J. Nicholls, J. M. Perkins, E. M. Grieveson, K. Theuwissen, D. W. McComb, P. D. Nellist, and V. Nicolosi, "Two-dimensional nanosheets produced by liquid exfoliation of layered materials," *in Science*, Feb. 2011, vol. 331, no. 6017, pp. 568-571, DOI: 10.1126/science.1194975.

[72] C. Altavilla, M. Sarno, and P. Ciambelli, "A Novel Wet Chemistry Approach for the Synthesis of Hybrid 2D Free-Floating Single or Multilayer Nanosheets of MS2@oleylamine (M—Mo, W)," *in Chemistry of Materials*, Aug. 2011, vol. 23, no. 17, pp. 3879-3885, DOI: 10.1021/cm200837g.

[73] D. K. Schroder, Semiconductor Material and Device Characterization. Wiley-Interscience, 2006.

[74] M. Zhang, "2D-Material-Channel Field-Effect Transistor for VLSI," Doctoral dissertation, UCLA, 2016.

[75] Y. Yoon, K. Ganapathi and S. Salahuddin, "How Good Can Monolayer MoS<sub>2</sub> Transistors Be?" *in Nano Lett.*, Jul. 2011, vol.11, issue 9, pp. 3768-3773, DOI: 10.1021/nl2018178.

[76] F. D. Brandão, G. M. Ribeiro, P. H. Vaz, J. C. González and K. Krambrock, "Identification of Rhenium Donors and Sulfur Vacancy Acceptors in Layered MoS<sub>2</sub> Bulk Samples," *in Journal of Applied Physics*, Jun. 2016, vol. 119, issue 23, 235701, DOI: 10.1063/1.4954017.

[77] D. Dumcenco, D. Ovchinnikov, O. L. Sanchez, P. Gillet, D. T. L. Alexander, S. Lazar, A. Radenovic and A. Kis, "Large-Area MoS<sub>2</sub> Grown Using H<sub>2</sub>S as the Sulphur Source," *in 2D Materials*, Nov. 2015, vol. 2, no. 4, 044005, DOI: 10.1088/2053-1583/2/4/044005.

[78] Y. Gong, Z. Lin, G. Ye, G. Shi, S. Feng, Y. Lei, A. L. Eli'as, N. Perea-Lopez, R. Vajtai, H. Terrones, Z. Liu, M. Terrones and P. M. Ajayan, "Tellurium-Assisted Low-Temperature Synthesis of MoS<sub>2</sub> and WS<sub>2</sub> Monolayers," *in ACS Nano*, Oct. 2015, vol 9, issuel2, pp. 11658-11666, DOI: 10.1021/acsnano.5b05594.
[79] J.-H. Huang, H.-H. Chen, P.-S. Liu, L.-S. Lu, C.-T. Wu, C.-T. Chou, Y.-J. Lee, L.-J. Li, W.-H. Chang and T.-H. Hou, "Large-Area Few-Layer MoS<sub>2</sub> Deposited by Sputtering," *in Materials Research Express*, Jun. 2016, vol. 3, no. 6, 065007, DOI: 10.1088/2053-1591/3/6/065007.

[80] C. Lo, K. Zhang, R. S. Smith, K. Shah, J. A. Robinson and Z. Chen, "Large-Area, Single-Layer Molybdenum Disulfide Synthesized at BEOL Compatible Temperature as Cu Diffusion Barrier," *in IEEE Electron Device Letters*, Jun. 2018, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 873-876, DOI: 10.1109/LED.2018.2827061.

[81] H. Kim, C. Ahn, G. Arabale, C. Lee and T. Kim, "Synthesis of MoS<sub>2</sub> Atomic Layer using PECVD," *in ECS Transactions*, Oct. 2013, vol. 58, issue 8, pp. 47-50, EOI: 10.1149/05808.0047ecst.